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National Credit Union Administration	
  

May	
  14,	
  2013	
  
	
  
To	
  the	
  Members	
  of	
  the	
  Senate	
  Banking	
  and	
  House	
  Financial	
  Services	
  Committees:	
  
	
  
On	
  behalf	
  of	
  the	
  National	
  Credit	
  Union	
  Administration	
  (NCUA)	
  and	
  in	
  the	
  spirit	
  of	
  
transparency,	
  I	
  am	
  pleased	
  to	
  submit	
  NCUA’s	
  2012	
  Annual	
  Report	
  for	
  your	
  review.	
  
	
  
This	
  report	
  reviews	
  the	
  agency’s	
  performance	
  in	
  2012	
  and	
  includes	
  the	
  audited	
  financial	
  
statements	
  for	
  NCUA’s	
  four	
  permanent	
  funds.	
  	
  These	
  funds	
  include	
  the	
  National	
  Credit	
  
Union	
  Share	
  Insurance	
  Fund	
  (NCUSIF),	
  the	
  NCUA	
  Operating	
  Fund,	
  the	
  Central	
  Liquidity	
  
Facility,	
  and	
  the	
  Community	
  Development	
  Revolving	
  Loan	
  Fund.	
  
	
  
NCUA	
  works	
  to	
  foster	
  the	
  safety	
  and	
  soundness	
  of	
  federally	
  insured	
  credit	
  unions.	
  	
  NCUA	
  
also	
  works	
  to	
  better	
  enable	
  the	
  credit	
  union	
  community	
  to	
  extend	
  credit	
  for	
  productive	
  and	
  
provident	
  purposes	
  to	
  all	
  Americans.	
  	
  Further,	
  NCUA	
  vigorously	
  works	
  to	
  protect	
  the	
  
NCUSIF	
  from	
  losses.	
  
	
  
In	
  its	
  performance,	
  NCUA	
  strives	
  to	
  ensure	
  that	
  credit	
  unions	
  are	
  empowered	
  to	
  make	
  the	
  
necessary	
  business	
  decisions	
  to	
  serve	
  the	
  diverse	
  needs	
  of	
  their	
  existing	
  members	
  and	
  
potential	
  members.	
  	
  NCUA	
  achieves	
  this	
  objective	
  by	
  establishing	
  a	
  regulatory	
  environment	
  
that	
  encourages	
  innovation,	
  flexibility,	
  and	
  continued	
  focus	
  on	
  attracting	
  new	
  members	
  and	
  
improving	
  service	
  to	
  existing	
  members.	
  
	
  
NCUA	
  developed	
  the	
  agency’s	
  2012	
  Annual	
  Report	
  in	
  accordance	
  with	
  the	
  requirements	
  of:	
  
	
  

• Section	
  102(d)	
  of	
  the	
  Federal	
  Credit	
  Union	
  Act;	
  
• the	
  Chief	
  Financial	
  Officers	
  Act	
  of	
  1990;	
  
• the	
  Government	
  Performance	
  and	
  Results	
  Act	
  of	
  1993;	
  and	
  
• the	
  provisions	
  of	
  Section	
  5	
  (as	
  amended)	
  of	
  the	
  Inspector	
  General	
  Act	
  of	
  1978.	
  

	
  
In	
  accordance	
  with	
  the	
  Reports	
  Consolidation	
  Act	
  of	
  2000,	
  NCUA	
  also	
  completed	
  an	
  
assessment	
  of	
  the	
  reliability	
  of	
  the	
  performance	
  data	
  contained	
  in	
  this	
  report.	
  	
  No	
  material	
  
inadequacies	
  were	
  found,	
  and	
  the	
  data	
  are	
  considered	
  to	
  be	
  complete	
  and	
  reliable.	
  
	
  

Sincerely,	
  
	
  
	
  

Debbie	
  Matz	
  
Chairman	
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Message from the Board

A Transformative Year for Credit Unions

For the National Credit Union Administration (NCUA) and 

federally insured credit unions, 2012 was a transformative 

year. The industry transitioned from uncertainty caused by a 

severe recession and benefited from a recovering economy.  

At the same time, NCUA continued implementing policies to 

maintain an effective regulatory environment in which credit 

unions can thrive now and in the future.

NCUA also maintained a strong and independent National 

Credit Union Share Insurance Fund (NCUSIF). At the same 

time, we worked to modernize and streamline regulations, 

engage key stakeholders and position the agency for the future.

Strengthening Industry Performance

Overall, credit unions had a strong year in 2012. For the first time, industry assets exceeded $1 trillion and the 

aggregate industry net worth ratio grew to a healthy 10.44 percent. Membership expanded to nearly 94 million, 

increasing almost 50 percent faster than in 2009. The industry also posted record net income of $8.5 billion, yielding 

a return on average assets ratio of 86 basis points. Significantly, loan charge-offs fell to 0.73 percent, a decline of 

18 basis points for the year.

Credit unions with assets above $250 million experienced the most robust growth. This group showed the largest 

gains in nearly every category, including membership, net worth, market share, loans and assets. Smaller credit 

unions, however, tended to have higher net worth, but showed slower gains in 2012. Credit unions with assets under 

$10 million sustained sluggish loan growth compared to credit unions with assets above $250 million. These small 

credit unions struggled to generate earnings and lost membership overall.  

Because we recognize that small credit unions are important to their members and their local communities, NCUA’s 

Office of Small Credit Union Initiatives is working to help viable small credit unions survive into the future.

The NCUA Board (from left to right): Board 
Member Michael E. Fryzel and NCUA Chairman 
Debbie Matz.
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Ensuring a Safe and Sound System

By the end of 2012, assets in troubled credit unions decreased to $19.0 billion, compared to $29.4 billion at the 

end of 2011. Improving economic and industry conditions contributed greatly to the financial performance of the 

NCUSIF as well, which attained the statutory equity ratio of 1.30 percent on an insured share base of $839.4 billion, 

up from $795.3 billion in 2011. 

Despite overall improvements in the financial conditions of credit unions, 22 failed in 2012. These failures 

collectively cost the NCUSIF $207 million. As a result of prudent NCUSIF management and reserving policies, the 

NCUA Board determined it was not necessary to charge credit unions an insurance premium in 2012. 

To further bolster the safety and soundness of the credit union industry, NCUA took steps in 2012 to strengthen our 

examination process. The agency implemented the National Supervision Policy Manual, which details the internal 

operations and examination procedures for staff. This manual was created to ensure greater consistency in the 

examination process.

Additionally, we authorized the creation of the Office of National Examinations and Supervision. This office 

assumed supervision of corporate credit unions at the start of 2013 and will enhance oversight of the nation’s 

largest consumer credit unions—those with more than $10 billion in assets—beginning in 2014. The realignment 

addresses growing concentrations of assets found in larger, more complex credit unions and seeks to guard against 

the potential exposure to the NCUSIF.

Modernizing Regulations

In 2012, we again advanced NCUA’s Regulatory Modernization Initiative. Keeping with the spirit of President 

Obama’s Executive Order 13579, the initiative aims to keep credit unions safe and sound, while responsibly reducing 

regulatory burdens and synchronizing our rules with the modern marketplace.

Examples of the initiative’s results were:

§ Establishing the Troubled Debt Restructuring rule to keep more members in their homes and ease credit 	

      union reporting burdens;
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§ Streamlining the application process for eligible low-income designations to remove red tape 

      and encourage more small business lending;

§ Revising the threshold definition for “small” credit unions from up to $10 million to up to $50 million 

      to provide regulatory relief from certain regulations for two-thirds of all credit unions;

§ Clarifying the definition of video tellers to provide improved service to members at lower costs to 

      credit unions;

§ Allowing larger auto fleets for member business loans to reflect the current marketplace; and

§ Extending permissible maturities for loan modifications to help struggling borrowers.  

Continuing Corporate Resolution Efforts

In 2012, NCUA successfully completed several initiatives created during the financial crisis to stabilize the corporate 

credit union system. NCUA achieved each of these milestones with no service disruptions to credit unions or their 

members. These significant accomplishments included:

§ Liquidating U.S. Central Bridge Corporate Federal Credit Union and Western Bridge Corporate Federal  

      Credit Union after successfully migrating key services to other marketplace providers;

§ Ending the Temporary Corporate Credit Union Share Guarantee Program, as planned, without major 

deposit outflows or operational disruptions; and

§ Paying off the remaining $3.5 billion on the guaranteed Medium Term Notes issued to support the cash 

flow needs of the Temporary Corporate Credit Union Stabilization Fund (Stabilization Fund).

With these goals realized, NCUA effectively closed the chapter on stabilizing, resolving and reforming the nation’s 

corporate credit union system. We achieved these results at no cost to taxpayers. 

NCUA also continued legal efforts to hold accountable those who caused the corporate crisis. In all, NCUA now has 

10 lawsuits, including four cases filed in 2012, against the Wall Street investment firms that sold faulty mortgage-

backed securities to the five failed corporates. When purchased, 82 percent of these securities were rated AAA. At 

the end of 2012, 68 percent of these securities were rated as below investment grade. 

Through these efforts, NCUA had recovered more than $170 million by the end of 2012, including a $5.25 million 

settlement with HSBC in 2012. NCUA is using net proceeds from these settlements to reduce the amount of 

Stabilization Fund assessments for all federally insured credit unions. 
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One consequence of the corporate resolution process is significantly reduced borrowing capacity for the credit union 

system’s emergency liquidity needs.  

U.S. Central Bridge had served as the leading agent stockholder in the congressionally created Central Liquidity 

Facility (CLF)—which had the capacity to provide $49.8 billion in emergency liquidity at the end of 2011 to 

all credit union members of the corporate network. However, U.S. Central Bridge’s stock in the CLF was fully 

redeemed during the orderly dissolution process.  

The redemption lowered the CLF’s borrowing limit to $2.3 billion at end of 2012 because its borrowing authority 

is tied to the amount of subscribed capital stock and surplus. As anticipated, this emergency liquidity is no longer 

available to all credit unions in the corporate network. The CLF is now limited to 124 credit unions that still own 

CLF stock directly.  

To address the system’s diminished borrowing capacity, the NCUA Board issued a proposed rule to require large 

credit unions, which hold most of the industry’s assets, to establish access to a government-backed emergency 

liquidity source. NCUA will consult with Congress on a possible legislative remedy to modernize the CLF. 

Engaging Stakeholders

Throughout 2012, NCUA’s leadership regularly met with industry representatives to respond to questions, explain 

policies and listen to the ideas and concerns of credit union officials.

During quarterly webinars and six listening sessions across the country, thousands of credit union officials had 

opportunities to speak directly to the NCUA Chairman and senior staff, offer ideas for improvements and learn 

more about the agency’s regulatory priorities. The conversations focused largely on ways to minimize the regulatory 

burden and improve the examination experience for credit unions.

NCUA also continued to expand the use of information technology to communicate and provide information to 

various stakeholder audiences. For example, we improved the content on our websites, NCUA.gov and 

MyCreditUnion.gov, made them easier to navigate and expanded our outreach on social media. In addition to the 

Chairman’s quarterly webinars that provided regulatory updates, we hosted online training seminars and produced 

videos that provided economic updates to credit unions.

http://www.mycreditunion.gov
wwhite
Typewritten Text

http://www.ncua.gov
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Positioning NCUA for the Future

In 2012, we worked to ensure that NCUA is positioned to meet tomorrow’s challenges. We continued to hire diverse and 

talented professionals from outside the agency, as well as promote talent from within. This new talent, at all levels of the 

organization, including senior leadership, is stimulating innovation and increasing the agency’s technical expertise. 

To ensure NCUA remains an employer of choice, NCUA continued its successful efforts to communicate with 

employees and address their concerns. As a result, the Partnership for Public Service ranked NCUA as the most 

improved mid-sized agency in the federal government after improving our overall ranking from 17th place to sixth 

place. Employees across all demographics gave the agency high marks for job satisfaction, fairness and employee 

empowerment. 

Looking Ahead

While 2012 was a year filled with many successes, NCUA remains vigilant in protecting against emerging threats.  

Interest rate risk, liquidity risk, cyber-attacks and an aging membership base outside of its prime borrowing years 

are among the most pressing.  

As we work with credit unions to mitigate these threats, we are confident that NCUA’s proactive actions in 2012 

have created a framework strong enough and flexible enough to ensure that the industry remains safe and sound for 

millions of Americans for years to come. 

Debbie Matz
Chairman

Michael E. Fryzel
Board Member
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Credit Union Industry Overview

Overall, federally insured credit unions showed strong financial performance in 2012, generating sizable earnings 

and membership gains.  In addition, credit unions continued to benefit from improving economic trends since the 

end of the recession in 2009. 

Earnings for 2012 were $8.5 billion, a 36.1 percent increase 

from $6.3 billion in 2011 and a record for the credit union 

industry. This increase in earnings resulted largely from 

reductions in loss reserves, a positive sign that credit unions 

are recovering from the financial crisis and benefiting 

from a strengthening economy. These strong earnings led 

to a return on average assets ratio of 86 basis points for 

the industry overall, a year-over-year increase of 19 basis 

points. The aggregate net worth ratio rose to 10.44 percent 

in 2012, up 23 basis points from a year earlier. 

Membership in federally insured credit unions also grew to 

93.8 million members at the close of 2012, up from 91.8 

million at the end of 2011. Total assets increased by $60 

billion, helping the industry cross the $1 trillion mark for the 

first time. The industry’s net worth rose to $106.7 billion, 

up $8.4 billion from 2011. Share and deposit accounts grew 

nearly 6.1 percent to $877.9 billion at the end of the year.

Federal credit unions reported $597.7 billion in loans outstanding at the end of 2012, a 4.6 percent annual increase.  

Lending grew in nearly every category:

§ First mortgage real estate loans increased 5.7 percent to $246.3 billion;

§ Used auto loans rose 7.9 percent to $115.2 billion;

§ New auto loans grew 8.7 percent to $63.3 billion; and

§ Member business loan balances expanded 6.5 percent to $41.7 billion.

Additionally, improving economic conditions like a declining unemployment rate contributed to the reduction in 

delinquencies and charge-offs. The industry’s delinquency ratio fell 44 basis points to 1.16 percent in 2012. Charge-

offs fell to 0.73 percent, a decline of 18 basis points for the year.
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Federally insured credit unions continue to recover 
from the financial crisis.  Return on assets reached 86 
basis points in 2012, compared to just 18 basis points 
in 2009.  Credit unions have also benefited from im-
provements in other key industry and economic met-
rics as well. 

Key Industry Indicators 
From 2009–2012
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Federally insured credit unions continue to grow 
in sophistication by offering new, more complex 
products and services such as online banking, 
member business loans and other services.  

63%

73%

58%
60%
62%
64%
66%
68%
70%
72%
74%

2000Q4 2012Q4

Real Estate Loans

15%

32%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

2000Q4 2012Q4

Member Business Loans

18%

37%

0%
5%

10%
15%
20%
25%
30%
35%
40%

2000Q4 2012Q4

CUSO Services

25%

71%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%

2000Q4 2012Q4

Online Banking

However, individual credit union financial performance varied by asset size in 2012. Credit unions with assets 

above $250 million showed the largest gains in nearly every category, including membership, net worth, market 

share, loans and assets. Smaller credit unions tended to have higher net worth, but lagged in performance. Credit 

unions under $50 million in assets had a return on average assets ratio of 23 basis points, well below the industry 

average. As a group, credit unions with assets under $10 million had a loss of membership and sluggish loan growth 

compared to credit unions with assets above $250 million.

Since 2000, credit unions have evolved and become more 

complex insitutions. In 2012, credit unions continued this 

trend, diversified their holdings and grew their real estate 

and member business loan portfolios. Credit unions also 

continued to expand into online and mobile banking. At the 

end of 2012, 4,828 federally insured credit unions offered 

online banking and 1,851 offered mobile banking services. 

The credit union industry also continued to consolidate. The 

number of federally insured credit unions fell from 7,094 at 

the end of 2011 to 6,819 institutions at the end of 2012, a 

trend consistent with recent years.

Finally, despite overall improvements in the industry’s 

financial performance, 22 credit unions failed in 2012.  

Fourteen of these credit unions with approximately $716 

million in assets were liquidated and eight were merged into 

other institutions with NCUA assistance. 

Growth of Credit Union 
Products and Services 

From 2000–2012
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Our Work, Our People: NCUA in Brief

Created by the U.S. Congress in 1970, NCUA is an independent federal agency that insures deposits at federally 

insured credit unions, protects the members who own credit unions, and charters and regulates federal credit 

unions. A three-member Board of Directors oversees NCUA’s operations by setting policy, approving budgets and 

adopting rules.

NCUA protects the safety and soundness of the credit union system by identifying, monitoring, and combating risks to 

the National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund (NCUSIF).  Backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Govern-

ment, the NCUSIF insures individual accounts up to $250,000 and joint accounts up to $250,000 per member. NCUA 

provides insurance to nearly 94 million account holders in all federal credit unions and the overwhelming majority of 

state-chartered credit unions. Credit union members have never lost a penny of insured savings at a federally insured 

credit union.

Through robust and effective examinations, NCUA helps to ensure that credit unions are safe and viable financial 

institutions. When a credit union does fail, NCUA works to minimize the impact of credit union failures on the 

entire industry. 

NCUA further plays a role in helping to ensure broader financial stability. NCUA is a member of, and in 2012 

chaired, the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (FFIEC) which is responsible for developing 

uniform principles, standards and report forms, and promoting uniformity in the supervision of depository financial 

institutions. NCUA’s Chairman is also a member of the Financial Stability Oversight Council, an interagency body 

tasked with identifying risks and responding to emerging threats to the financial system. 

In 2012, NCUA relied upon 1,191 full-time equivalent employees to perform all the vital tasks in the agency’s 

insurance, consumer protection and regulatory roles. NCUA operates a central office located in Alexandria, Va., 

the Asset Management and Assistance Center located in Austin, Texas, to liquidate credit unions and recover 

assets, and five regional offices.  In these regional offices, NCUA has 77 supervisory groups each with eight to 

ten examiners responsible for a portfolio of credit unions covering all 50 states, Puerto Rico, Guam and the U.S. 

Virgin Islands. 
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Chairman Debbie Matz was nominated by President Barack Obama to serve as NCUA’s 

eighth Board Chairman. She was sworn into office on Aug. 24, 2009.  Starting in 2010, 

Mrs. Matz also represents NCUA as one of ten voting members on the Financial Stability 

Oversight Council. She additionally serves on the FFIEC, which she chaired until April 

2013, and on the board of NeighborWorks America. Most recently a federal credit union’s 

executive vice president/chief operating officer, Mrs. Matz is no stranger to NCUA, hav-

ing served as an NCUA Board Member from January 2002 to October 2005. President 

Bill Clinton previously appointed Ms. Matz to serve as Deputy Assistant Secretary of 

Administration at the U.S. Department of Agriculture. Mrs. Matz served as an economist 

on the congressional Joint Economic Committee for many years. Her term expires April 

10, 2015.

Board Member Michael E. Fryzel was appointed by President George W. Bush to a 

seat on the NCUA Board. He was confirmed by the U.S. Senate June 26, 2008, took the 

oath of office as NCUA Chairman on July 29, 2008, and served in this role for just over 

a year. Mr. Fryzel was an attorney in private practice specializing in financial, regulatory 

and real estate law prior to his appointment. A former director of the Illinois Department 

of Financial Institutions, Mr. Fryzel served on the Illinois Governor’s Board of Credit 

Union Advisors from 1992 until his NCUA appointment. His term expires Aug. 2, 2013.

Christiane Gigi Hyland also served as a Board Member until Oct. 5, 2012.  Her seat 

is presently vacant. 

NCUA has a three-member Board of Directors appointed by the President of the United States and confirmed by the 

U.S. Senate.  By law, no more than two Board members are from the same political party, and members serve staggered 

six-year terms. The NCUA Board normally meets monthly, except August, in open session in Alexandria, Va.

Senior staff reporting to the NCUA Board in 2012 included:

§ Mary F. Rupp, Secretary of the Board; 
§ Steve Bosack, Chief of Staff to the Chairman; 
§ Buddy Gill, Senior Strategic Communications 
      and External Relations Advisor to the Chairman; 
§ Sarah Vega, Senior Policy Advisor to 
      Board Member Fryzel;

§ David M. Marquis, Executive Director;
§ Michael McKenna, General Counsel; and
§ Todd M. Harper, Director, Office of Public 
      and Congressional Affairs.

NCUA Board of Directors
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NCUA Central Office Leadership

NCUA’s Board and executive director are located in its Alexandria, Va., central office along with the following 
major offices that administer the agency’s various programs.

The Office of the Executive Director (OED), led by David M. Marquis in 2012, is 

responsible for the agency’s daily operations. The executive director reports directly 

to the NCUA Chairman. All regional directors and central office directors report to the 

executive director, and NCUA’s Equal Opportunity Program is included within OED. 

OED also manages NCUA’s strategic planning program, which directs the agency’s 

planning process, and tracks and reports on goal achievement. 

Marquis retired from the agency at the end of 2012 after 34 years of service. He was 

succeeded by Mark A. Treichel. 

The Office of Examination and Insurance (E&I), led by Larry Fazio, is responsible  

for NCUA’s supervision programs that ensure the safety and soundness of federally 

insured credit unions. Within E&I, the Division of Supervision oversees NCUA’s 

examination and supervision program. The Division of Risk Management oversees 

the agency’s credit union problem resolution program. The Division of Analytics 

and Surveillance manages the agency’s data gathering, surveillance and national risk 

assessment programs, as well as, supports NCUA’s supervision of technology risk in 

credit unions. Finally, E&I’s Division of Capital and Credit Markets evaluates and 

develops policies and procedures related to credit union loans and investments and 

asset liability management. The division also oversees the day-to-day operations of the 

Central Liquidity Facility and the NCUA Guaranteed Note (NGN) program. 

The Office of General Counsel (OGC), led by Michael McKenna, addresses legal 

matters affecting NCUA. These duties include representing the agency in litigation, 

executing administrative actions, interpreting the Federal Credit Union Act and NCUA 

Rules and Regulations, processing Freedom of Information Act requests, and advising 

the Board and the agency on general legal matters. OGC also drafts regulations designed 

to ensure the safety and soundness of credit unions.
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The Office of Consumer Protection (OCP), led by Gail Laster, is responsible for con-

sumer compliance policy, program, and rulemaking; fair lending examinations; interagen-

cy coordination for consumer protection and compliance issues; member complaint reso-

lution; and the agency’s financial literacy programs. OCP also handles chartering, charter 

conversions, bylaw amendments, field of membership expansions and low-income credit 

union designations.  Laster replaced Kent D. Buckham, who retired in December 2012.

The Office of the Chief Financial Officer (OCFO), led by Mary Ann Woodson, is 

responsible for agency budget preparation and management, ongoing finance and 

accounting functions, facilities management, and procurement. OCFO also handles 

billing and collection of credit union NCUSIF premiums and Temporary Corporate 

Credit Union Stabilization Fund assessments.

The Office of Corporate Credit Unions (OCCU), led by Scott Hunt, supervises the 

corporate credit union system. As a credit union for credit unions, corporates provide a 

variety of payment, liquidity and investment services. At year-end 2012, there were 17 

corporate credit unions that ranged in size from $9.3 million to $4.3 billion.  At the start of 

2013, NCUA reorganized its operations and OCCU became the Office of National Exami-

nations and Supervision. The new office oversees all corporate credit unions and will su-

pervise consumer credit unions with more than $10 billion in assets effective Jan. 1, 2014.

The Office of Small Credit Union Initiatives (OSCUI), led by William Myers, supports 

two primary roles, assisting the agency’s risk mitigation program and fostering credit 

union development, particularly the expansion of services provided by small credit unions 

to all eligible consumers. OSCUI fulfills these roles by providing training, customized 

consulting assistance and financial support offered through grants and loans funded by the 

Community Development Revolving Loan Fund.

The Office of the Chief Economist (OCE), led by John D. Worth, supports NCUA’s 

safety and soundness goals by developing and distributing economic intelligence. OCE 

also enhances NCUA’s understanding of emerging microeconomic and macroeconomic 

risks by producing meaningful and robust modeling and risk identification tools, and 

participating in agency and inter-agency policy development.
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The Office of Public and Congressional Affairs (PACA), led by Todd M. Harper, 

monitors federal legislative issues and serves as NCUA’s liaison with Capitol Hill and 

other government agencies. PACA is also the source of information about NCUA and 

its functions for the public, credit unions, league and trade organizations and the media. 

The Office of the Chief Information Officer (OCIO), led by Ronnie Levine, manages 

NCUA’s automated information resources. OCIO’s work includes collecting, validating 

and securely storing electronic agency information; developing, implementing and 

maintaining computer hardware, software, and data communications infrastructure; 

and ensuring related security and integrity risks are recognized and controlled.  

Additionally, OCIO manages the NCUA.gov and MyCreditUnion.gov websites. 

The Office of Minority and Women Inclusion (OMWI), led by Tawana James, 

oversees issues related to diversity in management, employment and business 

activities. The office works to increase participation of minority- and women-owned 

businesses in NCUA’s programs and contracts. OMWI also works to preserve 

minority credit unions and to assess the diversity policies and practices of credit 

unions regulated by NCUA.

The Office of Human Resources (OHR), led by Cheryl Eyre, provides a full range of 

human resources functions to all NCUA employees. OHR administers recruitment and 

merit promotion, position classification, compensation, employee records, training, 

employee benefits, performance appraisals, incentive awards, adverse actions and 

grievance programs. OHR is also responsible for labor relations.

The Office of Inspector General (OIG), led by William DeSarno, promotes the 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness of NCUA programs and operations. OIG also 

detects and deters fraud, waste and abuse, supporting NCUA’s mission of monitoring 

and promoting safe and sound federally insured credit unions. Additionally, OIG 

conducts independent audits, investigations and other activities, and keeps the NCUA 

Board and U.S. Congress fully and currently informed.

http://www.ncua.gov
http://www.mycreditunion.gov
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The Asset Management and Assistance Center (AMAC), led by Mike Barton, 

conducts credit union liquidations, and performs asset management and recovery. 

AMAC also assists NCUA regional offices with the review of large, complex loan 

portfolios and actual or potential bond claims.  Additionally, AMAC staff participates 

extensively in the operational phases of conservatorships and record reconstruction.

NCUA’s Region I is located in Albany, N.Y. Directed by Mark A. Treichel in 2012, the 

region covers Connecticut, Maine, Massachusetts, Michigan, Nevada, New Hampshire, 

New York, Rhode Island, and Vermont. Treichel assumed duties as NCUA Executive 

Director on Jan. 1, 2013, and was succeeded by Larry Blankenberger as Region I 

Director. At the start of 2013, NCUA returned oversight of federally insured credit 

unions in Nevada to Region V.

NCUA’s Region II is located in Alexandria, Va. Directed by Jane A. Walters, the 

region covers California, Delaware, District of Columbia, Maryland, New Jersey, 

Pennsylvania, Virginia, and West Virginia. 

NCUA’s Region III is located in Atlanta, Ga. Directed by Herbert S. Yolles, the region 

covers Alabama, Florida, Georgia, Indiana, Kentucky, Mississippi, North Carolina, 

Puerto Rico, Ohio, South Carolina, Tennessee, and the U.S. Virgin Islands.

NCUA Regional Offices and AMAC

Outside of Alexandria, Va., NCUA has five regional offices and the Asset Management and Assistance Center. The 

bulk of NCUA staff is assigned to the agency’s five regions. This staff regularly examines federally insured credit 

unions to ensure safe and sound operations.
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NCUA’s Region IV is located in Austin, Texas. Directed by C. Keith Morton, the region 

covers Arkansas, Illinois, Iowa, Kansas, Louisiana, Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, 

North Dakota, Oklahoma, South Dakota, Texas, and Wisconsin.

NCUA’s Region V is located in Tempe, Ariz. Directed by Elizabeth Whitehead, the 

region covers Alaska, Arizona, Colorado, Guam, Hawaii, Idaho, Montana, New Mexico, 

Oregon, Utah, Washington, and Wyoming. Oversight of federally insured credit unions 

in Nevada returned to Region V at the start of 2013.

NCUA Regional Map

Note:  The map above reflects NCUA’s current regional alignment.  
On Jan. 1, 2013, oversight of federally insured credit unions in 
Nevada moved from Region I to Region V.

Guam

Region II-Capital

Region I-Albany

Region V-Tempe

AMAC

Region III-Atlanta

U.S. Virgin 
Islands

Puerto 
Rico

Region IV-Austin
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Management Discussion & Analysis
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A Year of Transition, Growth and Stability

In 2012, the credit union industry transitioned away from the financial crisis, grew earnings and assets, and 

experienced increased stability.

Overall, the credit union industry showed strong financial performance in 2012. Earnings were $8.5 billion, a 

36.2 percent increase from $6.3 billion in 2011 and a record for the credit union industry. Federally insured credit 

unions also reported $597.7 billion in loans outstanding at the end of 2012, a 4.6 percent increase over last year. 

Improving economic conditions also contributed to a reduction in delinquencies and charge-offs.

As the credit union industry transitioned and grew, NCUA’s activities in 2012 could be lumped into five broad 

categories. Specifically, NCUA worked to:

§	 Ensure a safe and sound credit union system and maintain a strong and independent National Credit Union 

       Share Insurance Fund (NCUSIF);

§	 Modernize regulations to meet the demands of an evolving marketplace;

§	 Draw down the agency’s response to the financial crisis;

§	 Engage, coordinate with and provide assistance to key stakeholders; and

§	 Prepare and position the agency for the future.

Through these collective efforts, NCUA continued to proactively implement policies designed to maintain an 

effective regulatory environment in which credit unions can thrive, both now and in years to come.

Ensuring a Safe and Sound Credit Union System

NCUA is committed to ensuring a safe and sound credit union system in both good times and bad. Fortunately, 

credit unions as a group had a strong year in 2012 as a result of a recovering economy and the many actions taken 

by NCUA and credit unions to mitigate small problems before they became big ones. 

CAMEL Ratings Rise in 2012 

A key indicator of the improved performance of credit unions in 2012 is the ongoing uptick in aggregate CAMEL 

ratings.

Management Discussion and Analysis 
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NCUA’s CAMEL rating consists of an assess-

ment of a credit union’s capital adequacy, as-

set quality, management, earnings and liquidity 

(asset-liability management). The CAMEL rat-

ing system is designed to take into account and 

reflect all significant financial, operational and 

management factors examiners assess in their 

evaluation of a credit union’s performance and 

risk profile. CAMEL ratings range from a 1 (the 

highest rating) to a 5 (the lowest rating). Credit 

unions with a composite CAMEL code 3 rating 

exhibit some degree of supervisory concern in 

one or more of the component areas. CAMEL 

code 4 credit unions generally exhibit unsafe 

and unsound practices or conditions, and CAM-

EL code 5 credit unions exhibit extremely un-

safe and unsound practices and conditions.  

NCUA refers collectively to CAMEL code 4 and 5 credit unions as "troubled credit unions." At the end of 2012, 

total assets in troubled credit unions decreased to $19.0 billion, compared to $29.4 billion at the end of 2011. The 

number of credit unions with CAMEL codes 3, 4 or 5 declined to 15.1 percent of all federally insured credit unions, 

the lowest level since 2008.  

NCUSIF Ends 2012 in a Stronger Position

The NCUSIF ended 2012 in a stronger position because of fewer losses, continued portfolio growth and a decline 

in the number of troubled credit unions, among other factors. The NCUSIF at the end of the year had reached the 

statutory equity ratio of 1.30 percent on an insured share base of $839.4 billion. In comparison, the NCUSIF equity 

ratio in 2011 was 1.30 percent on an insured share base of $795.3 billion. 

NCUA calculated the year-end 2012 figure after transferring $88.1 million in equity from the NCUSIF to the Temporary 

Corporate Credit Union Stabilization Fund. The Federal Credit Union Act requires NCUA to transfer any NCUSIF 

In 2012, assets in troubled federally insured credit unions 
continued to decline to their lowest levels since 2008.  This decline 
reduced the NCUSIF’s risk exposure and helped to ensure the 
NCUSIF’s strong financial performance in 2012.
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equity above the normal operating level of 1.30 percent at the end of each year as long as the Stabilization Fund has 

outstanding borrowings from the U.S. Treasury. Before the transfer, the equity ratio had risen to 1.31 percent.  

Because of this strong performance, the Board did not charge credit unions an NCUSIF premium in 2012.

Member Deposits Remain Secure

Member deposits at federally insured credit unions are protected by the NCUSIF up to $250,000. As a result, the 

members of the 22 credit unions that failed in 2012 suffered no losses on their insured deposits. All verified shares 

from liquidations in 2012 were paid out within five days of the credit union’s closure.

These 22 failures cost the NCUSIF $207 million. Of the credit unions that failed, eight went through assisted 

mergers. Of the 2012 failures, NCUA’s Asset Management and Assistance Center kept $408 million in assets to 

manage, as compared to keeping $24 million for the prior year. Concurrently, the Asset Management and Assistance 

Center managed a greater amount of complex assets, which were primarily loans. Gross assets managed increased by 

55 percent from $719 million at the end of 2011 to $1.1 billion at the end of 2012. 

Conditions at Conserved Credit Unions Improve

The four credit unions under NCUA conservatorship throughout 2012 continued to show improved financial 

performance.  

Texans Credit Union’s net worth ratio improved to 161 basis points for the year, and Keys Federal Credit Union 

posted improved net income and a net worth ratio of 3.7 percent. Additionally, AEA Federal Credit Union launched 

several new services, found efficiency in its operations and improved the credit union’s net worth ratio by 137 basis 

points. Finally, Arrowhead Central Credit Union grew to nearly $700 million in assets by the end of 2012. 

The performance of each of these credit unions demonstrates the critical role that conservatorship can play in 

preventing losses to the NCUSIF and potentially returning a troubled credit union back to its members after 

achieving financial viability and resolving problems at the financial institution. 
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Exams Focus on Managing Risks

In 2012, NCUA again used a risk-focused approach 

when conducting examinations. During their reviews, 

NCUA examiners focused on evaluating several key 

lending risks, including:

§	 Asset concentration;

§	 Long-term, fixed-rate loans;

§	 Third-party loans; and 

§	 Loan modifications.

After nearly a decade of risk-focused examination scheduling, NCUA completed the transition to an annual 

examination program. Over a period of 24 months, NCUA’s regional offices and their field staff converted to the 

new exam schedule.

Through shortened examination cycles, NCUA has been proactive in assisting credit unions to correct problems at 

an earlier stage in order to avoid greater costs later on. The annual examination cycle ultimately contributed to the 

decline in the number of troubled credit union assets and the NCUSIF’s risk exposure in 2012.

Additionally, NCUA worked with state regulators to examine all federally insured, state-chartered credit unions with 

more than $250 million in assets. In conducting annual examinations of federal credit unions and federally insured, 

state-chartered credit unions above the threshold, NCUA’s regional examiners completed 12,496 supervisory 

contacts in 2012, which included 740,424 exam hours. Because of this new exam schedule and priorities, the 

number of examinations has increased by approximately a third in recent years.

NCUA Insures Five New Credit Unions

With an improving economy, interest in credit union charters rose. In all, NCUA approved four new federal charter 

applications and insured the deposits for one new state-chartered credit union in 2012. The issuance of new charters 

facilitates the achievement of NCUA’s goal of expanding access to credit unions. 

The staff from NCUA’s Asset Management and Assistance 
Center sorts through thousands of documents from a 
failed credit union. This is a painstaking process, but it 
helps to ensure that every member receives their insured 
deposits in a timely manner. 
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Collectively, these new credit unions have a potential field of membership of 3.2 million individuals. This includes 

762,000 people living in economically challenged portions of the country, including a low-income communities in 

New Brunswick, N.J. and in Kalamazoo, Mich.; the Pine Ridge Reservation in South Dakota; and a seven-county 

low-income community in Alabama.  

National Supervision Policy Manual 
Advances Consistency

To provide additional clarity and consistency to the ex-

amination process, NCUA developed and implemented 

the National Supervision Policy Manual. The culmination 

of two years of work, the new manual improves the ef-

ficiency of the examination process by responding to the 

Board’s direction to remove regional differences in qual-

ity control. The manual also implements key recommen-

dations from the statutorily mandated Material Loss Re-

views conducted by NCUA’s Office of Inspector General.

NCUA took this action to provide the industry with a better understanding of NCUA’s policies, reducing possible 

misunderstandings that may occur during the examination process.

Addressing Consumer Compliance and Fair Lending Risks

During 2012, NCUA’s Office of Consumer Protection focused its fair lending examination efforts on large federal 

credit unions—those with assets over $100 million. Additionally, the office completed supervisory contacts at credit 

unions with fair lending issues previously identified during the 2011 examinations. In total, NCUA issued three civil 

monetary penalties and 14 preliminary warning letters for late submissions of information required by the Home 

Mortgage Disclosure Act.

During 2012, NCUA’s Office of Consumer Protection also coordinated with Consumer Financial Protection 

Bureau (CFPB) and other agencies on the Mortgage Servicer Guidance for service members with permanent 

change of station orders. The agency additionally participated in two widely attended interagency webinars on 

fair lending practices and service member financial protection.

Members of Region I’s Division of Management 
Services review an updated compliance manual at 
the regional office in Albany, N.Y. The employees 
of NCUA’s regional offices play an important role in 
NCUA’s examination program and outreach to regional 
leagues and trade associations across the country.
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In addition, the Office of Consumer Protection issued regulatory alerts and letters to credit unions, as well as de-

veloped articles in NCUA’s monthly newsletter informing credit unions about Home Mortgage Disclosure Act re-

quirements, disclosure notices and error resolution procedures for international remittances, and mortgage servicing 

practices affecting military homeowners.

Modernizing Regulations

The year 2012 marked the first full year of Chairman Debbie Matz’s Regulatory Modernization Initiative that began 

in mid-2011. The initiative’s goal is to ensure that NCUA’s rules balance safety and soundness with the demands of 

the current marketplace, target practices that pose the greatest risk to the NCUSIF, and are minimally burdensome 

to credit unions.  Additionally, these efforts are in line with the spirit of President Obama’s Executive Order 13579, 

which applies to rulemaking by independent regulatory agencies. NCUA already proactively reviews one-third of 

its rules every three years. 

Some key initiatives pursued in 2012 as part of the 

Regulatory Modernization Initiative include:

§	 Revising the Troubled Debt 

      Restructuring rule to keep more members 

      in their homes and ease credit union 

      reporting;

§	 Streamlining the application process for 

       eligible low-income designations to 

       remove red tape and encourage more 

       small business lending; and

§	 Revising the threshold definition for     	

       “small” credit unions from $10 million 

       to less than $50 million to provide 

       regulatory relief for two-thirds of all 

       credit unions. 

In all, NCUA issued six final rules and nine 

proposed rules in 2012. NCUA also issued seven 

clarifying legal opinions and streamlined three 

	
  

REGULATORY	
  MODERNIZATION	
  INITIATIVE	
  
ACCOMPLISHMENTS	
  
IMPROVED	
  RULES	
   	
  
	
   Easing Troubled Debt Restructurings to keep 

members in their homes	
  
	
   Expanding potential fields of membership in rural 

districts	
  
	
   Allowing federal credit unions to invest in 

Treasury’s Inflation-Protected Securities	
  
	
   Expanded seven RegFlex provisions to all federal 

credit unions	
  
	
   Providing additional regulatory relief for small 

credit unions up to $50 million	
  
CLARIFIED	
  LEGAL	
  OPINIONS	
  
	
   Permitting loan maturities up to 40 years after loan 

modifications 
	
   Redefined “fleet” from two to five vehicles for 

member business loans 
	
   Treating video tellers as credit union service 

facilities 
	
   Permitting federal credit unions to go through the 

process of a charter change to help facilitate a 
merger	
  

STREAMLINED	
  PROCESS	
  
	
   Implemented “Opt-In” process for eligible credit 

unions to receive a Low-Income Designation 
	
   Allowing credit unions to obtain blanket waivers 

for certain member business loans 
	
   Cancelled NCUA Board meetings in months when 

no new NCUA regulations were proposed 
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As the credit union industry consolidates, risk is being 
concentrated in larger, more complex credit unions.  ONES 
allows NCUA to direct more resources to the institutions 
that potentially pose the largest threats to the NCUSIF.

important regulatory and compliance processes. Finally, the Board approved the creation of a new office to focus on 

the evolving potential risks of the largest entities in the industry.

Establishing the Office of National Examinations and Supervision

In July, the Board approved a restructuring of the agency’s operations with the creation of the Office of National 

Examinations and Supervision (ONES). This office assumed supervision of corporate credit unions at the beginning 

of 2013 and will enhance oversight of the nation’s largest credit unions—those with more than $10 billion in 

assets—beginning in 2014.

ONES will leverage NCUA’s national and regional expertise to promote high-quality evaluations of risk and risk-

management practices. The realignment reallocates existing resources to focus on the largest credit unions that, 

due to their asset size, pose a potential risk to the integrity of the NCUSIF.  

Prior to this reorganization, NCUA spent 45 percent of examination hours on credit unions with less than $50 

million in assets, yet this group held only 7 percent of the industry’s total assets. Meanwhile, the largest credit 

unions—those with more than $1 billion in assets—held 47 percent of industry assets and received only 10 percent 

of examination hours.  

Finally, the new office will provide a single point 

of contact with the CFPB for coordinating joint 

examinations for credit unions over $10 billion, 

helping to create better interagency coordination.  

Protecting Safety and Soundness

During 2012, NCUA proposed and finalized several 

rules designed to protect the NCUSIF from losses. 

Two important rules were related to designating 

troubled condition credit unions and implementing 

interest rate risk reforms.

CREDIT UNION ASSETS BY ASSET RANGE 
From 2000 to 2012
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The Board issued a proposed rule in July, which it finalized at the start of 2013, permitting either NCUA or a 

state regulator to designate a federally insured, state-chartered credit union in troubled condition. Since 2008, 

four federally insured, state-chartered credit unions failed after NCUA more timely assigned a troubled condition 

rating than the state regulator. These failures caused $235 million in NCUSIF losses—25.5 percent of the fund’s 

losses over the last five years. Previously, only a state regulator could make the troubled condition designation for 

a federally insured, state-chartered credit union. 

The current low-interest rate environment also exposes credit unions and the NCUSIF to possible losses due to 

interest rate risk. During 2012, credit unions held nearly 31 percent of their assets in long-term, fixed-rate mortgages.  

To get out in front of this issue, the Board finalized an interest rate risk rule in 2012. Among other things, the 

rule requires credit unions with assets above $50 million to develop an interest rate risk policy and program that 

incorporates five elements. They include:

§	 Adoption of a board-approved interest rate risk policy;

§	 Oversight by the board of management’s implementation of the interest rate risk policy;

§	 Development of risk-measurement systems to assess the interest rate risk sensitivity of earnings, 

       asset values and liability values;

§	 Establishment of internal controls to monitor adherence to interest rate risk limits; and

§	 Implementation of a decision-making process that is informed and guided by interest rate 

       risk measures.

NCUA tailored the rule this way because not every credit union has the same risk profile. It provides flexibility for 

a credit union’s managers and board of directors to develop policies and procedures that meet the needs of their 

particular institution. 

Credit unions with more than $50 million in assets began complying with the new rule at the end of September.  

Members of the Federal Financial Institutions 
Examination Council meet at NCUA’s 
headquarters in Alexandria, Va.  This interagency 
group is charged with developing rules and 
regulations that are consistent at all federally 
insured depository institutions.  NCUA Board 
Chairman Matz (center) also chaired the FFIEC in 
2012.
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As a result of a Board-approved revision in early 2013, credit unions with less than $50 million in assets are 

exempt from the requirement to adopt and implement interest rate risk policies. These small credit unions have a 

limited interest rate risk exposure to the NCUSIF. 

Supporting Small and Rural Credit Unions

In pursuing rulemaking activities during 2012, NCUA remained aware of and took steps to address the unique 

circumstances of small credit unions.  

As part of NCUA’s ongoing efforts to provide regulatory relief to small credit unions, the Board issued a proposed 

rule in September that would have changed the definition of a “small entity” under the Regulatory Flexibility Act 

to include federally insured credit unions with less than $30 million in assets. After a public comment period, the 

Board voted to increase this threshold to $50 million when issuing the final rule in January 2013.  

The updated threshold contained in the final rule almost doubled the number of federally insured credit unions with 

regulatory exemptions through the small credit union definition. In all, the final rule covers 4,604, or nearly 68 

percent, of federally insured credit unions.

In response to requests to enhance the sustainability of federal credit unions in rural areas, NCUA also issued a 

proposed rule in September to change the definition of a “rural district.” The proposed change would allow a credit 

union’s operations area to be designated a rural district if the population does not exceed 250,000 or 3 percent of the 

population of the state in which the credit union is located. If the district crosses state lines, the 3 percent population 

requirement would be based on the population of the state containing the majority of the district. NCUA finalized 

this rule in early 2013.

Finally, in 2012 NCUA instituted an expedited examination process for well-managed, small credit unions with 

CAMEL ratings of 1, 2 or 3 and assets under $10 million. As part of this effort, NCUA will allot 40 hours per 

examination. During these streamlined exams, NCUA focuses on pertinent areas of risk, such as lending, record 

keeping and auditing.
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Since the start of NCUA’s Low-Income Designation 
Initiative, nearly $65.9 billion in new assets and nearly 
7.5 million members are now part of low-income 
credit unions.

Expanding the Number of Low-Income Designations

In August, NCUA announced a major initiative to streamline the process for federal credit unions to receive 

designation as a low-income credit union (LICU). Through this outreach campaign, NCUA sent letters to more 

than 1,000 federal credit unions notifying them of their existing eligibility for the LICU designation. 

Rather than waiting for credit unions to complete the required paperwork to become a LICU, NCUA contacted 

qualifying credit unions alerting them of their LICU eligibility. Credit unions receiving letters could then opt-in 

with a simple reply to agree to the designation. 

A low-income designation offers several significant benefits to credit unions and their communities.  These benefits 

include:

§	 Exemption from the 12.25 percent 

       statutory cap on member business loans  

       by credit unions;

§	 Ability to accept non-member deposits   

       from any source;

§	 Access to NCUA’s Office of Small Credit      	

       Union Initiatives programs, including 

       the grants and loans provided by the 

       Community Development Revolving Loan   

       Fund and the consulting services offered by 

       NCUA’s Economic Development   

       Specialists; and 

§	 Authorization to obtain supplemental 

       capital, such as from the U.S. Treasury’s 

       Community Development Financial 

       Institutions program, private benefactors 

       and foundations, and institutions 

       interested in receiving Community  

       Reinvestment Act credit.

TOTAL LICU ASSETS
($Billions)
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Because of these benefits and the ease by which eligible credit unions could become a LICU, NCUA had a very 

positive response. By the end of 2012, 690 federal credit unions with 7.5 million members and $65.9 billion in assets 

had accepted the low-income designation, bringing the number of LICUs to 1,915. In all, LICUs now have 15.8 

million members and $132 billion in assets.    

Because of this success, NCUA is now working with state regulators to make it easier for state-chartered credit 

unions to determine if they are eligible for the LICU designation. NCUA finalized these cooperative regulatory 

efforts in the first quarter of 2013.

Providing Regulatory Relief 

Consistent with the goals of the Regulatory Modernization Initiative, a number of the rule changes adopted or 

proposed in 2012 by the Board provided regulatory relief. A sampling of three such rule changes follows. 

Reporting of Troubled Debt Restructurings Simplified.  The Board adopted a final rule in May on troubled debt 

restructuring and loan workout guidance. These changes ensure that members who can no longer afford to make 

full payments on their original mortgages can keep their homes if they agree to certain modified terms with their 

credit union.  

Credit unions can modify loans without having to classify restructured troubled debt as delinquent immediately. In 

particular, the rule: 

§	 Requires federally insured credit unions to adopt and adhere to written policies that govern 

       loan workout;

 §	 Allows credit unions to calculate the past-due status of all loans consistent with loan contract terms 

       including amendments made to loan terms through a formal troubled debt restructuring;

§	 Eliminates the dual and often manual delinquency-tracking burden on credit unions for managing and 	

       reporting restructured troubled debt; and

§	 Reaffirms current industry practices by requiring credit unions to discontinue interest accrual on loans  	

	 past due by 90 days or more and to establish requirements for returning such loans to accrual status.

In approving this rule change, the Board struck a balance between providing more flexibility in loan workouts to 

help credit union members overcome short-term financial difficulties while requiring credit unions to charge off 

non-performing loans that are unlikely to be repaid.
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Proposal Allows Credit Unions to Invest in TIPS.  The Board issued a proposed rule in September to allow federal 

credit unions to invest in the variable-rate instruments known as Treasury Inflation-Protection Securities, or TIPS.  

Under this proposal, federal credit unions would be allowed to use TIPS as a risk-management tool to protect 

themselves against inflation risk. Because TIPS are backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government, they 

carry no credit risk. In addition, TIPS are tied to the Consumer Price Index rather than a specific interest rate.  As a 

result, they carry less interest rate risk than other Treasury investments.

NCUA finalized this rule in early 2013.

RegFlex Initiative Expanded.  In May 2012, the Board approved a final rule to modify several existing rules to 

enable all federal credit unions to engage in RegFlex activities without the need to apply for a RegFlex designation 

first. Specifically, NCUA allowed federal credit unions to:

§	 Make charitable contributions to charities of their choosing;

§	 Accept non-member deposits, up to the greater of 20 percent of shares or $3 million, from local 

       governmental entities or other credit unions;

§	 Use a six-year time horizon (instead of three years) to partially occupy unimproved property acquired 

       for future expansion;

§	 Obtain certain exceptions to constraints on purchasing whole loans from other federally insured 

       credit unions; 

§	 Enter into borrowing-repurchase transactions in which the purchased securities have maturities 

       exceeding the maturity of the borrowing-repurchase agreement, provided the investment value does 

       not exceed net worth and is subject to certain constraints;

§	 Purchase private-label commercial mortgage-related securities, subject to certain net worth constraints 

       and safety and soundness investment criteria; and

§	 Invest in zero-coupon securities, subject to certain net worth and investment maturity limits.

During 2013, NCUA anticipates continuing to propose and finalize rules under the Regulatory Modernization 

Initiative.

Continuing Corporate Resolution Efforts

As the credit union industry’s performance improved in 2012, NCUA successfully wound down several initiatives 

implemented during the financial crisis to stabilize the corporate credit union system. Notably, NCUA succeeded 
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in its efforts to address problems in the corporate credit union system without service disruptions to credit unions 

or their members.

During the financial crisis in 2007–2009, sizable losses from the mortgage-backed securities held by several 

corporate credit unions led to significant problems. As a result, NCUA ultimately liquidated five corporate 

credit unions.

To stabilize and repair the corporate credit union system, NCUA implemented its Corporate Resolution Plan from 

2008–2012. The plan followed four key principles:

§	 Prevent any disruption of payment services to consumer credit unions and their members;

§	 Maintain confidence in the credit union system;

§	 Minimize long-term costs in keeping with sound public policy principles; and

§	 Facilitate an orderly transition to a new regulatory framework while maximizing consumer credit choices.

During 2012, NCUA finished several key elements of the Corporate Resolution Plan. NCUA shuttered Western 

Bridge Corporate Federal Credit Union in July after transitioning the bridge’s services to a new corporate credit 

union. NCUA then liquidated U.S. Central Bridge Corporate Federal Credit Union in October. NCUA took this 

action after migrating key services to other marketplace providers.

Additionally, the Temporary Corporate Credit Union Share Guarantee Program, which provided additional insurance 

coverage to a corporate credit union member’s excess shares, expired as planned at year’s end. The expiration 

occurred without any major deposit outflows or operational disruptions. In 2012, NCUA also retired the remaining 

$3.5 billion balance on Medium Term Notes issued to support the cash flow needs of the Stabilization Fund.

While the Stabilization Fund is expected to remain open until 2021, NCUA effectively closed the chapter on 

stabilizing, resolving and reforming the nation’s corporate credit union system. Moreover, NCUA achieved these 

results at no cost to taxpayers.

Seeking Accountability

As NCUA worked to complete the Corporate Resolution Plan, the agency continued efforts to hold accountable 

those who caused the corporate crisis. In 2012, NCUA filed four additional cases against the Wall Street investment 
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firms that sold faulty mortgage-backed securities to the five failed corporates. When purchased, 82 percent of these 

securities had a triple-A rating, but 68 percent of these instruments were below investment grade at the end of 2012.  

In all, NCUA has filed 10 lawsuits seeking recoveries from responsible parties. By the end of 2012, NCUA had 

recovered more than $170 million in settlements with other entities, including a March settlement with HSBC for 

$5.25 million. These settlements furthered the agency’s goal of minimizing losses resulting from the five corporate 

failures, and NCUA will use the net proceeds to reduce the total assessments that all credit unions have to pay for 

the corporate system’s losses.

NCUA also took action against several former officials at the failed corporate credit unions in 2012, including 

issuing cease-and-desist and prohibition orders to four individuals to bar them from participating in, consulting 

with, or selling securities to corporate credit unions in the future. Further, NCUA entered into an agreement barring 

the former CEO of Western Corporate Federal Credit Union from becoming an employee of, holding any office 

in, or otherwise participating in any manner in the conduct of the affairs of any federally insured credit union. The 

former CEO also agreed to pay $600,000 to the corporate’s liquidating agent.

Addressing Emergency Liquidity Needs

As anticipated, the closure of U.S. Central Bridge in 2012 reduced the borrowing capacity for the credit union 

system’s emergency liquidity needs.

The Central Lending Facility (CLF) is the credit union industry’s emergency liquidity facility. U.S. Central 

Bridge had served as the leading agent stockholder in the CLF, but with the orderly dissolution of the bridge, 

the CLF stock was fully redeemed. The redemption lowered the CLF’s borrowing capacity, from $49.8 billion at 

the end of 2011, to $2.3 billion at the end of 2012 because the CLF’s statutory borrowing authority is tied to the 

amount of subscribed capital stock and surplus.  

As a result, emergency liquidity through the CLF is available only to a limited number of credit unions. The CLF 

is open to all credit unions that purchase a prescribed amount of capital stock. At the end of 2012, the CLF had 

124 credit union members that own stock directly. To address the diminished borrowing capacity of the credit 

union system and to protect the NCUSIF from losses, the Board issued a proposed rule in July to require large 

credit unions, which hold most of the industry’s assets, to establish access to a government-backed emergency 

liquidity source.
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Monitoring Legacy Assets

Under the Corporate Resolution Plan, NCUA created 

a re-securitization program to provide long-term 

funding for the legacy assets from the five failed 

corporate credit unions through the issuance of the 

NCUA Guaranteed Notes (NGNs). The NGNs are 

guaranteed by NCUA and are backed by the full faith 

and credit of the U.S. Government.  

The legacy assets consist of more than 2,000 

investment securities, secured by approximately 1.6 

million residential mortgages, as well as commercial 

mortgages, student loans and other securitized assets. 

The NGN program is designed to minimize losses 

of the corporate credit union system on the industry.  

The outstanding balance of the legacy assets fell to 

$28.2 billion at year’s end. During 2012, the balance 

decreased by $6.1 billion due to a combination of 

principal repayments and realized losses. NCUA will continue to monitor the performance of the legacy assets in 

2013, issuing semi-annual updates and provide updates on its website. 

Engaging, Assisting and Coordinating with Stakeholders

Throughout 2012, the Board and NCUA’s senior staff were out in front of a variety of audiences answering questions, 

explaining policies and listening to the ideas and concerns of credit union officials, their boards of directors and 

credit union members. NCUA also worked to provide assistance to the agency’s stakeholders, especially providing 

consumers with access to valuable information and supporting the work of low-income and small credit unions. 

Finally, NCUA continued to coordinate with other federal agencies and state regulators on important policy issues, 

including chairing the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (FFIEC) in 2012.

The reduction of the legacy asset balance since 2010 is a 
result of principal repayments of $7.8 billion and realized 
losses of $4.0 billion.  

DISTRIBUTION OF LEGACY ASSET TYPE AND 
BALANCE OUTSTANDING 
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Chairman Debbie Matz (standing) meets with credit union officials during one of her six 
listening sessions held across the country. 

Hearing Industry Concerns through Listening Sessions and Webinars

During quarterly webinars and six listening sessions across the country, thousands of credit union officials had 

opportunities to speak directly with the Chairman and senior staff, offer ideas for improvements and learn more 

about the agency’s regulatory priorities. These sessions gave the Chairman and senior staff the chance to interact 

with industry officials, as well as credit union directors and consumers.

During the listening sessions, NCUA had thoughtful conversations about trends in the credit union industry, the 

agency’s regulations, the examination process and emerging threats to the industry. Credit union officials participating 

in these events raised a wide array of issues, including questions about rulemakings, regulatory burdens, examination 

policies and procedures, interest rate risk management and member business lending.  

As a result of the listening sessions, NCUA gained a greater understanding of the needs and concerns of the industry. 

Additionally, insights gained during these meetings spurred several of NCUA’s regulatory and policy initiatives in 

2012. For example, NCUA used the input received during the listening sessions to clarify and simplify troubled 

debt restructurings and workout loans. The feedback also influenced the agency’s efforts to modify the definition of 

a small credit union to provide regulatory relief to credit unions with fewer resources.

In addition to the listening sessions, NCUA regularly used webinars to bring policymakers to credit unions in 

2012. During a February webinar, Chairman Matz and CFPB Director Richard Cordray briefed 2,100 registered 

participants from the credit union industry and the public about pending initiatives and answered dozens of questions.  

NCUA also used webinars to train credit union managers, volunteers and directors.
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Improving Financial Literacy and Consumer Awareness

Since the successful launch of MyCreditUnion.gov in 2011, traffic on NCUA’s consumer website has steadily 

increased. During 2012, MyCreditUnion.gov had more than 155,000 visits. The website contains important 

consumer protection information, such as the right to receive a free credit report annually, as well as information 

about credit unions, saving, borrowing, managing debt, and common financial scams. Consumers can also find 

answers to questions about federal credit unions and how to file or resolve a credit union complaint through the 

Consumer Assistance Center.

As part of the agency’s efforts to promote Financial Literacy Month, NCUA launched Pocket Cents, a financial 

literacy microsite within MyCreditUnion.gov, in April 2012. Pocket Cents introduces young people to the benefits 

of credit unions and the importance of setting financial goals. The website provides access to tools and information 

designed to teach school-age youth positive financial habits. Pocket Cents’ lessons are available in both English 

and Spanish.

Further, NCUA’s Office of Consumer Protection continued to represent the agency on the Financial Literacy and 

Education Commission and the American Savings Education Council Government Interagency Group. NCUA 

also participates in an interagency partnership with 

the Department of Education and the Federal Deposit 

Insurance Corporation to advance financial literacy, 

financial access and financial capability.

Coordinating Across Agencies

In 2012, Chairman Matz continued to represent NCUA 

as one of 10 voting members on the Financial Stabil-

ity Oversight Council (FSOC). Created by the Dodd-

Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection 

Act, FSOC is charged with identifying risks to the fi-

nancial stability of the United States, promoting mar-

ket discipline, and responding to emerging risks to the 

stability of the U.S. financial system. The participation 

Located within MyCreditUnion.gov, Pocket Cents 
provides important personal finance lessons that help 
children, teens, parents, and service members learn 
about the importance of savings and making sound 
financial decisions.  

http://www.mycreditunion.gov
http://www.mycreditunion.gov
http://www.mycreditunion.gov
http://www.mycreditunion.gov
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on FSOC has broadened NCUA’s perspective, identified emerging risks in the system that could affect credit 

unions, and improved access to information.

NCUA also continued in 2012 to chair the FFIEC. Chairman Matz began her two-year term as FFIEC Chairman 

in 2011. She is the first NCUA Chairman in more than 20 years to head the FFIEC, which includes NCUA, CFPB, 

the Federal Reserve Board, FDIC, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency and the State Liaison Committee.

Created by Congress in 1979, the FFIEC establishes uniform principles, standards and report forms for the 

federal examination of financial institutions. The FFIEC also makes recommendations to promote uniformity in 

the supervision of financial institutions and conducts schools for examiners. Some key FFIEC projects in 2012 

involved creating guidance on the use of social media at financial institutions, developing the appraisal complaint 

hotline required by the Dodd-Frank Act, and coordinating matters related to the National Mortgage Licensing 

System and Registry required by the Secure and Fair Enforcement for Mortgage Licensing Act.

Timely and Effective Resolution of Member Complaints

In 2012, the NCUA continued efforts to refine the agency’s approach to responding to member complaints and 

improving quality assurance. The average length of time to resolve a member complaint fell by more than 33 percent 

to 60 days from an average of 80 days in 2011.  

In all, the Consumer Assistance Center received 10,889 

phone calls and 3,053 complaints from consumers during 

the year. Of the 2,320 investigations completed, 379 cases 

were successful in obtaining monetary relief for members, 

which totaled $324,685.

Increasing Membership in Underserved Areas

Under the Federal Credit Union Act, credit unions have a 

mission to meet the credit and savings needs of consumers, 

especially people of modest means. During 2012, NCUA 

assisted in providing access to financial services through 

MyCreditUnion.gov provides consumers with a 
wealth of personal finance information in easy-to-
understand language. Credit union members can 
also use the electronic portal to submit complaints 
for NCUA’s review.

http://www.mycreditunion.gov
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the agency’s ongoing Underserved Areas Initiative. This initiative 

allows more people of modest means to experience the benefits credit 

unions provide to their members and communities. In 2012, NCUA 

approved 14 multiple common-bond credit unions to serve 950,000 

potential members who resided in 18 underserved areas.

Identifying Potential Minority Credit Unions

The Dodd-Frank Act charged NCUA with designing and implementing 

a program to preserve minority credit unions. To begin this process, 

NCUA’s Office of Minority and Women Inclusion began gathering 

information from the Call Report system to allow credit unions to 

identify themselves as a minority credit union, starting with the Dec. 

31, 2011, Call Report cycle. At the end of 2012, 805 federally insured 

credit unions had self-identified as a minority credit union.

Building Capacity at Small and Low-Income Credit Unions

In 2012, specialists in NCUA’s Office of Small Credit Union Initiatives (OSCUI) provided consulting and training 

services to help small and low-income designated credit unions become more efficient and provide better services to 

their members. NCUA reorganized the program’s operations during 2012 to create a two-cycle program each year.  

During the first consulting cycle, which ran from July through December, 206 credit unions received consulting 

assistance from NCUA on matters like net worth restoration plans, offering new products and services, and 

succession planning.

In addition, OSCUI identified 14 small credit unions that manually filed Call Reports and provided them with 

computers for electronic filing. The donated computers helped the credit unions—each of which had less than 

$10 million in assets—modernize their operations. Many of these credit unions are now using the computers to 

modernize other record keeping as well, such as putting member loan and share information into a digital format.

OSCUI also collaborated with external stakeholders to develop presentations that covered different aspects of 

fraud in credit union operations. These presentations provided risk-management personnel at small credit unions 

Staff from NCUA’s Office of Small Credit 
Union Initiatives lead a training webinar 
for small and low-income credit unions.
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For 2012, the OSCUI approved $1.4 million in funding for 103 
credit union applicants. The average award amount per credit 
union was $13,000. 

with detailed information on wire transfer fraud, 

fraudulent deposits, lending fraud and employee 

dishonesty.  

Providing Grants and Loans

OSCUI administers the Community Development 

Revolving Loan Fund, a fund set up by Congress 

to support credit unions that serve low-income 

communities. Each year, NCUA provides loans and 

grants to small and low-income credit unions in 

need through this fund.

In 2012, OSCUI implemented an automated system that greatly improved the efficiency in which NCUA approves 

loans and grants. This new system also made it easier for small credit unions or first-time applicants to request these 

funds. In 2012, nearly 25 percent of grants awarded went to first-time applicants.  

In all, NCUA received 331 grant applications with more than $5 million in funding requests, the highest total 

funding request in the program’s history. NCUA ultimately provided $1.4 million in grants to 103 low-income 

designated credit unions in 2012. Credit unions used these grants for developing new products and services for low-

income or underbanked consumers, supporting internships, providing tax assistance to members, and training staff 

and board members.

Expanding NCUA’s Outreach

In 2012, NCUA enhanced and expanded its outreach efforts through online resources, social media postings, 

printed materials and mobile devices. Notably, NCUA.gov, which houses information about the agency’s regulatory 

programs for credit unions, received more than 2.85 million visits in 2012.

NCUA’s free monthly newsletter, The NCUA Report, serves as the agency’s primary communication vehicle.  In 

each edition, credit union managers, board members and industry experts can learn more about NCUA’s policy 

initiatives, emerging risks, consumer protection regulations and economic trends.  
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Also, 2012 marked the first full-year of producing OSCUI’s e-newsletter, FOCUS, which has a regular readership 

of nearly 4,000. This newsletter helps small and low-income credit unions stay abreast of OSCUI’s training 

webinars and initiatives, and features articles about NCUA’s rulemakings and how they affect small and low-income 

designated credit unions. 

 

Social media also continues to be a growing component of NCUA’s overall communications strategy.  In the last 

year, NCUA’s social media presence connected thousands of interested parties in the online community, providing 

critical information on matters like small and low-income credit union grants and loans, training dates, regulatory 

changes, deadlines and employment opportunities at the agency.  At the end of 2012, NCUA had 2,133 followers on 

Twitter and 1,235 followers on Facebook.

NCUA’s social media channels played a critical role in reaching credit unions and their members during 

Superstorm Sandy. During the storm, credit unions were able to dependably access information about the 

agency’s emergency and assistance plans through NCUA’s social media postings, along with safety tips for 

members in the storm’s path.

In 2012, NCUA’s Office of the Chief Economist initiated a series on NCUA’s YouTube channel that provides credit 

union management and industry watchers with up-to-date insights and analysis of trends in the broader economy, 

as well as how those trends could affect a credit union’s bottom line. These video updates also regularly featured 

discussions about the agency’s regulatory and policy initiatives, like the final rule on interest rate risk, changes in 

emergency liquidity access and implementation of the Corporate Resolution Plan.

To make sure that credit union managers have the information needed to make better decisions, the Office of 

the Chief Economist also launched two economic reports for credit unions in 2012. The first is a quarterly map 

review that provides credit unions with key performance metrics on a state-by-state basis. The analysis details 

industry trends, such as changes in delinquency ratios and membership growth rates, in an easy-to-understand 

format. The second is a downloadable spreadsheet with regional unemployment and home price data, important 

information often used by credit unions.

To facilitate access to federally insured credit unions, NCUA released its first mobile application in 2012. 

Designed to provide users with intuitive access to credit union information, the CU Locator app utilizes GPS 

technology to determine the closest branch to user’s current location. Users can view results on a detailed map 
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or in a list that displays the nearest branch address, telephone number, branch hours of operation, web page 

information and driving directions. The app also allows users to connect with NCUA’s website, social media 

channels and subscribe to the agency’s email alerts. CU Locator is available at no cost for the iPhone, iPad and 

Android-compatible smartphones and tablets. 

Communicating Clearly

Clear and concise communications are a critical part of meeting NCUA’s mission. That’s why NCUA worked in 

2012 to further incorporate the principles of the Plain Writing Act, which became law in October 2010, into all of 

the agency’s external communications. Every member of NCUA’s workforce completed online training in 2012, and 

selected staff received additional training. Staff are now incorporating the principles of plain writing in their daily 

duties, including drafting examination reports, new regulations, agency publications and press releases.

Positioning NCUA for the Future 

During 2012, NCUA’s leadership undertook many initiatives designed to position the agency to meet tomorrow’s 

challenges. These activities involved sound budget management, enhanced training, hiring outreach and diversity 

awareness, succession planning and information security and data collection.

Ensuring Sound Financial Management

NCUA continues to spend its resources effectively and efficiently, without sacrificing either the agency’s core 

mission of protecting safety and soundness or the goal of making NCUA a desirable place to work. During 2012, the 

Board directed each office during the agency’s mid-year budget review to increase efficiencies and reduce line items 

wherever possible. As a result, NCUA decreased the 2012 Operating Budget by $2 million. 

In developing the agency’s budget for 2013, NCUA again used a zero-based budgeting approach where every 

projected expense must be justified. In November of 2012, the Board approved a $251.4 million budget for 2013.  

This budget amounts to just under 29 cents for every $1,000 of credit union deposits, down slightly for the second 

year in a row and significantly less than the almost 38 cents for every $1,000 on deposits reported in 2000. The rate 

of 2013 budget growth was also slower than the projected increase in industry assets.  
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Providing Quality Examiner Training

NCUA recognizes that for examiners to perform 

their jobs well, they need effective training.  In 2012, 

127 members of NCUA’s examination staff, 90 state 

examiners and two staff members from the Federal 

Reserve Board attended one or more training classes 

at NCUA, accounting for 468 individual training slots.  

In addition to new examiner training, NCUA delivered 

1,630 internal training slots during the year to NCUA 

staff and state examiners.

Additionally, 147 NCUA examiners and other staff participated in training provided by the FFIEC. This 

interagency council provides timely and cost-efficient specialized training programs for examiners and staff.  

Finally, all NCUA personnel participated in a comprehensive, week-long training session the agency organizes 

every two years.

Hiring Diverse and Talented Professionals 

NCUA continued to enhance its diversity at the agency in 2012. In March, the Board approved an agency-

specific Diversity and Inclusion Strategy. Throughout 2012, NCUA’s Office of Minority and Women Inclusion 

also worked with NCUA’s divisions in:

§	 Implementing the agency-wide Diversity and Inclusion Strategic Plan; and 

§	 Expanding recruitment strategies to widen the pool for diverse candidates for job vacancies.

The execution of this plan resulted in slight year-over-year increases in several populations of the NCUA workforce, 

including veterans and the disabled, as well as Asian- and African-Americans. In the senior staff personnel catagory, 

there were 13 selections in 2012 and 62 percent of these selections were minorities, women or both. The overall 

representation of female employees in the senior staff in NCUA’s workforce increased in 2012 to 41 percent from 

33 percent, and African-American representation increased to 7 percent from 2 percent.

Board Member Michael Frzyel addresses NCUA 
employees at the agency’s annual award ceremony.
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Succession Planning Leads to Smooth 
Changes in Leadership

NCUA bid farewell to several of its seasoned leaders in 

2012, including Executive Director David M. Marquis 

who retired in December. Yet, because the agency had 

in place a succession plan, NCUA was able to groom 

staff to move into these positions. In the case of finding 

a new Executive Director, NCUA moved Mark A. 

Treichel, who served as Region I’s Director, into the 

position quickly without any disruption to the day-to-

day operations of the agency.  

NCUA also saw opportunities to bring in talent from the outside for fresh perspectives in key operational areas 

as well. New talent at all levels of the organization, including senior leadership, is stimulating innovation and 

increasing the agency’s technical expertise. Outside hires for senior leadership positions in 2012 included the heads 

of the Office of Consumer Protection and the Office of the Chief Information Officer. Compared to 2009, 75 percent 

of NCUA’s offices had a new director in 2012.  

NCUA Ranks Among Best Places to Work

NCUA has a goal of being an employer of choice, and in 2012 continued to be a top performer in employee 

satisfaction for federal agencies.  

Specifically, NCUA showed the strongest growth among medium-sized agencies in the annual Best Places to 

Work in Federal Government rankings. The Partnership for Public Service rated NCUA first for improvement in 

employee satisfaction year-over-year amongst 22 federal agencies with 1,000 to 14,999 employees. 

In 2012, NCUA improved its overall annual ranking to sixth out of 22 medium-sized federal agencies and bettered 

its scores in nearly every survey category. NCUA performed particularly well in the area of effective leadership, 

which the Partnership for Public Service describes as a primary factor in employee attitudes toward job satisfaction.  

NCUA recruiters conduct outreach for new examiners at 
an event in Los Angeles, Calif. 
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NCUA ranked second for employee skills and mission match amongst its peer agencies. The agency’s employees 

also gave NCUA strong endorsements in the areas of diversity, fairness and employee empowerment.

In addition, NCUA established the Veterans Educational Benefits Program where the Department of Veterans 

Affairs pays qualified veterans a monthly education benefit for time spent in approved apprenticeship and on-the-job 

training programs. Veterans in examiner positions are eligible to receive monthly benefits while attending required 

initial training and during on-the-job training.  

Enhancements Keep NCUA at the Forefront of Information Security

Information security continued to be a major concern in 2012, and the Office of Chief Information Officer made sure 

NCUA remained protected. In January, NCUA became one of just 14 agencies in the federal government that fully 

implemented the Managed Trusted Internet Provider Service. This service provides NCUA with additional security 

features, helps optimize and standardize the security of external Internet connections, and makes NCUA compliant 

with the Office of Management and Budget’s requirements for Trusted Internet Connections.

CU Online Upgrades Improve Information Collection

In May 2012, NCUA launched a new version of its flagship data collection application—Credit Union Online 

(CU Online).  CU Online is a web-based program used by credit unions and state regulators to capture and display 

credit union information. It consists of two parts: the Credit Union Profile and the Online 5300 Call Report.

As part of the software development process, NCUA 

listened to users and incorporated many ideas and 

changes to improve usability and convenience as part of 

the major refresh of this key reporting system. Notable 

changes include:

§       Improved user interface; 

§       Enhanced printing;

§       Warnings to prevent errors and 

         improve efficiency;

§       Real-time calculations; and 

§       Historical warnings.

Members of Region IV’s field examination team take part 
in a training class in Minneapolis on the use of a new 
computer platform to help them with their examinations 
of credit unions. 
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The upgraded CU Online was recognized as a finalist in the American Council for Technology’s Industry 

Advisory Council competition for the “Best in Class, Best in Government” award for excellence in enhancing the 

customer experience. 

Increasing Supplier Diversity

Throughout the year, NCUA continued to advance its supplier diversity initiatives to promote the inclusion of 

minority- and women-owned businesses in the agency’s contracting opportunities. Items such as the agency’s new 

Vendor Registration Form and guidelines to diversify the types of firms invited to participate in bid opportunities 

have allowed NCUA to better attract and track minority- and women-owned businesses.  As a result of these supplier 

diversity initiatives $3.7 million, or 8.7 percent out of $42.8 million in contracts awarded during 2012 went to 

minority- and women-owned businesses.

As the agency’s supplier diversity initiatives mature, NCUA anticipates increases in minority- and women-owned 

business participation and utilization within the agency’s procurement activities.

Looking Ahead

While 2012 was a year filled with many successes, NCUA remains vigilant in protecting the industry against 

emerging threats. Interest rate risk, emergency liquidity needs and cyber-attacks are among the most pressing.

Throughout 2012, some credit unions took advantage of the growth in interest rate spreads by borrowing short and 

lending long. If left unchecked, a reversal of today’s record-low rates would negatively impact the balance sheets 

of many credit unions.  

To address this potential problem, NCUA revised the agency’s rules in 2012 to require credit unions presenting the 

greatest risk exposure to the NCUSIF to put in place interest rate risk policies. Credit union management and boards 

must be prepared for a change in the interest rate environment when it comes.  

The closure of U.S. Central Bridge Corporate Credit Union left more than 6,000 credit unions without access to 

the Central Liquidity Facility for emergency liquidity needs. NCUA issued a proposed rule on emergency liquidity 

in 2012, and NCUA is educating credit unions about the importance of maintaining access to emergency liquidity.
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Credit unions also face a growing demographic problem. The average age of adult credit union members is 47, up 

from 42 several years ago. Yet the peak borrowing age is 25–44. By this measure, the average credit union member 

is already past their prime borrowing years. Fortunately, credit unions have an enormous untapped market: 33 

percent of the U.S. population is under age 20. NCUA is taking steps to educate credit unions about the need to tap 

into this underserved population.

But credit unions will have to adapt their business practices to reach this market. Individuals in this age group expect 

mobile banking, 24/7 convenience and expanded online service. If credit unions are not able to meet these demands, 

the industry could face future difficulties attracting younger members. 

In sum, NCUA had a productive and successful year in 2012. The agency was able to meet its core strategic 

objective of maintaining a safe, sound and healthy credit union industry, but also was able to the lay the groundwork 

for a stronger and more competitive credit union industry of the future by taking proactive actions.

There is no doubt that new issues will arise in the future.  However, NCUA is committed to adopting and implementing 

an effective, safe and sound and flexible regulatory framework to ensure that millions of Americans will be able to 

rely on federally insured credit unions for their financial needs for many years to come. 
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2012 Performance Results Summary
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2012 Performance Results

Performance Results Summary

Throughout 2012, NCUA implemented initiatives designed to achieve its mission of providing, through regulation and 

supervision, a safe and sound credit union system which promotes confidence in the national system of cooperative 

credit. This mission is consistent with NCUA’s vision of protecting consumer rights and member deposits.

NCUA used its vision and mission statement to guide the development of the agency’s Strategic Plan. NCUA’s 2012 

Annual Performance Summary is based on NCUA’s Strategic Plan and complies with the Office of Management 

and Budget’s guidance on implementation of the Government Performance and Results Modernization Act of 2010. 

To measure performance, NCUA established two or more performance goals within each of the four core strategic 

objectives. Each performance goal also includes one or more indicators and targets. NCUA reviews performance 

goals each quarter. This review and assessment allows the agency to make adjustments to better enhance 

performance results.

As requested by the Office of Management and Budget, NCUA has additionally established several high priority 

performance goals from among its annual performance goals. As defined by Office of Management and Budget, 

these short-term goals have a high direct value to the public and resolve challenges that will lead to improved 

effectiveness or efficiency that could not be overcome without directing agency resources to their achievement.

NCUA integrated its high priority performance goals into its annual objectives. The high priority goals are the 

highest priority of focus and resources. In 2012 these goals were:

§	 Monitor and control risk in consumer credit unions, as measured by net worth growth in the consumer 

       credit union system, the long-term assets ratio, the potential loss-coverage ratio, and a reduction in the 

       National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund (NCUSIF) losses as a percentage of total insured shares; 

§	 Continue to stabilize the corporate credit union system, as measured by the corporate credit union 

       system capital ratio requirements; and 

§	 Ensure consumer credit unions that are members of bridge corporate credit unions transition 

       from the bridge corporate entities without disruption of member services, as measured by the percent 

       of credit unions that successfully transition.
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       Goal achieved       Goal not achieved with no 

       impact on overall program 
       and activity performance

      Goal not achieved with an 
       impact on overall program 
       and activity performance

Specifically, NCUA’s strategic goals and objectives for 2012 were:

Using the following key, a summary of NCUA’s performance by each of the agency’s strategic 

goals follows:

 

���������������� ���������
��������

 
Ensure a safe, sound and 
healthy credit union system 

• Monitor and control risk in consumer credit unions 
• Continue to stabilize the corporate credit union system 
• Ensure consumer credit unions that are members of bridge 

corporate credit unions transition from the bridge corporate 
entities without disruption of member services 

• Promptly pay member’s insured shares upon involuntary 
liquidation of a credit union 

Promote credit union access 
to all eligible persons 

• Address consumer complaints effectively and efficiently 
• Assist low-income credit unions in growing and increasing 

accessibility of credit union services 
• Increase awareness of share insurance and credit  

unions in younger demographics 
• Increase total credit union membership potential 

Further develop a regulatory 
environment that is 
transparent and effective, 
with clearly articulated and 
easily understood 
regulations 

• Reduce regulatory and/or legislative act violations 
• Improve communications with credit unions 
• Improve transparency of the NCUA Guarantee  

Notes Program 

Cultivate an environment 
that fosters a diverse, well-
trained and motivated staff 

• Recruit, hire and retain a larger, more diverse pool of  
potential candidates/employees 

• Enhance communication within the agency vertically and 
horizontally 

• Develop and implement agency succession planning for staff, 
mid-level managers and senior managers 

• Develop and implement a comprehensive, integrated and  
strategic focus for diversity 
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Program	
   Dollars	
  
(in	
   	
  

Percent	
   Full-­‐Time	
  
Equivalents	
  

Percent	
  

Budgeted	
   Actual	
   Budgeted	
   Actual	
   	
   Actual	
   	
   Actual	
  

Supervision $96.5	
   $92.8	
   40.7%	
   40.7%	
   509	
   482	
   40.4%	
   40.5%	
  

Insurance $122.6	
   $119.0	
   51.8%	
   52.1%	
   648	
   619	
   51.4%	
   52.0%	
  

Credit 

nitiatives 

$5.7	
   $5.2	
   2.4%	
   2.3%	
   	
   	
   2.1%	
   2.0%	
  

Consumer 
Protection 

Asset 
Management 

Total	
   $236.9	
   $228.0	
   	
   	
   1,260	
   1,191	
   	
   	
  

	
  

	
  

Budget and Expenditures by Program

The original 2012 budget for NCUA totaled $236.9 million. NCUA allocated the majority of its budget, $122.6 

million, to insurance programs and related activities, followed by $96.5 million for corporate and consumer credit 

union supervision programs.

The remaining programs consist of $5.7 million to small credit union initiatives, $6.6 million to consumer protection, 

and $5.5 million to asset management. NCUA proportionally allocates general and administrative costs to each 

program. Agency wide, utilization of original budget funds was 96.3 percent in 2012.

 

NCUA also budgeted for 1,260 full-time equivalent workers in 2012. NCUA allocated the majority of its workforce 

to insurance programs and related activities, followed by corporate and consumer credit union supervision programs. 

At years end, NCUA had 1,191 full-time equivalent employees. 
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Message from NCUA’s Chief Financial Officer

I am pleased to present the National Credit Union Administration’s 2012 

financial statements for NCUA’s four permanent funds:

§The National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund (NCUSIF);

§The NCUA Operating Fund;

§	The NCUA Central Liquidity Facility; and 

§The NCUA Community Development Revolving Loan Fund.

The agency’s four permanent funds received unqualified or “clean” financial statement opinions from 

independent financial auditors, reflecting our uncompromising commitment to excellence in financial 

reporting. NCUA set this standard of excellence in the early 1980s and we have sustained it because of our 

ongoing dedication to strong internal controls over financial reporting. This agency-wide focus enables us to 

proactively identify and mitigate any potential financial reporting risks that may arise due to new programs, 

new transactions, or changes in operations. A measure of our success is that we had no findings in our 

independent auditors’ reports on compliance and internal control over financial reporting.  

Taken together, the auditors’ reports and accompanying financial statements confirm our commitment to 

transparency, accountability and stewardship to the President, Congress, federally insured credit unions, and 

the American public.  

During 2012, NCUA continued its pledge to be an effective steward of agency funds. NCUA expended just 

over 96 percent of its operating budget and returned $2.5 million of excess cash by reducing 2013 operating 

fees. NCUA is in compliance with all applicable laws such as the Federal Managers’ Financial Integrity Act, 

the Prompt Payment Act, the Debt Collection and Improvement Act, and the Federal Information Security 

Management Act. As required by the Improper Payments Information Act, we have determined that NCUA 

programs are not susceptible to a high risk of significant improper payments.

Looking ahead to 2013, maintaining strong internal controls will remain a priority at NCUA to ensure our 

tradition of accountability and transparency to our stakeholders. We will continue quarterly reporting of the 

Mary Ann Woodson
Chief Financial Officer
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financial highlights on both the NCUSIF and the Temporary Corporate Credit Union Stabilization Fund at 

public Board meetings, and monthly financial highlights will be posted at NCUA.gov.   

Most importantly, we will continue our critical role of identifying and addressing risks to the NCUSIF to 

prevent losses when possible.  

Sincerely,

M	
  

	
  Mary Ann Woodson
Chief Financial Officer

http://www.ncua.gov
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Overview of NCUA’s Permanent Fund Programs

NCUA operates four permanent funds—the National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund, the Operating Fund, 

the Central Liquidity Facility, and the Community Development Revolving Loan Fund. All four funds received 

unqualified or “clean” audit opinions for 2012.  A summary of each fund follows.

The National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund (NCUSIF) is the federal fund created by Congress in 1970 to 

insure member deposits in credit unions. Administered by NCUA, the NCUSIF is backed by the “full faith and 

credit” of the U.S. Government. The NCUSIF protects the deposits of nearly 94 million members at federally 

insured credit unions up to $250,000.

The NCUA Operating Fund, in conjunction with the NCUSIF, finances the agency’s operations.

The Central Liquidity Facility provides liquidity for all member credit unions and can invest in U.S. Government 

and agency obligations, deposits of federally insured institutions, and shares or deposits in credit unions.

The NCUA Community Development Revolving Loan Fund provides loans and grants to low-income designated 

credit unions.

In addition to the NCUSIF, the Operating Fund, the Central Liquidity Facility, and the Community Development 

Revolving Loan Fund, NCUA operates the Temporary Corporate Credit Union Stabilization Fund (Stabilization 

Fund), which Congress created to manage the costs of paying for the recent corporate credit union failures over 

time. The Stabilization Fund is planned to close in 2021.  Published separately, the results of the 2012 independent 

audit of the Stabilization Fund are available at http://go.usa.gov/TagJ. 

http://go.usa.gov/TagJ
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National Credit Union Share
Insurance Fund

Financial Statements as of and for the 
Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

and Independent Auditor’s Report



National Credit Union Administration
62

Overview

I. Mission and Organizational Structure

NCUSIF Mission 

Organizational Structure 

II. Performance Goals, Objectives and Results

NCUA 2011-2014 Strategic Plan NCUA Annual 
Performance Plan for 2013
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2012 and 2011 Performance Measures 

Equity Ratio and Normal Operating Level 

Insurance Losses (Contingent Liabilities) 

C A M
E L

C A M E
L
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III. Financial Statement Analysis

Summarized Financial Information (in thousands) 

Balance Sheet Highlights 
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Statements of Net Cost Highlights 

Cumulative Results of Operations Highlights 

Statements of Budgetary Resources Highlights 

Limitations of the Financial Statements 

Liquidity Risk and Capital Resources 
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2012 and 2011 Fund Balance with Treasury and Investments

Contributed Capital 

Cumulative Results of Operations 

Assessments 

Borrowing Authority from the U.S. Treasury 
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Borrowing Authority from the CLF 

IV. Systems, Controls, and Legal Compliance

 et seq
National Credit Union Authority Clarification Act

Federal Credit Reform Act of 1990
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

Report on the Financial Statements 

Management's Responsibilities 

Auditors’ Responsibilities 

Government Auditing 
Standards

Audit Requirements for Federal Financial Statements

KPMG LLP
Suite 12000
1801 K Street, NW  
Washington, DC 20006

KPMG LLP is a Delaware limited liability partnership,
the U.S. member firm of KPMG International Cooperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.

National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund
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Opinion on the Financial Statements 

Emphasis of Matter 

Financial Reporting Requirements

Supplemental Information

Other Reporting Responsibilities 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
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deficiency in internal control

material weakness

Compliance and Other Matters

Government Auditing Standards 

Purpose of the Other Reporting Responsibilities 

Government Auditing Standards
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION SHARE INSURANCE FUND 

BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Dollars in thousands)

2012 2011
ASSETS

INTRAGOVERNMENTAL

PUBLIC

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

INTRAGOVERNMENTAL

PUBLIC

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET POSITION

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION SHARE INSURANCE FUND 

STATEMENTS OF NET COST
For the Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Dollars in thousands)

2012 2011
GROSS COSTS 

LESS EARNED REVENUES 

TOTAL NET COST/(INCOME) OF OPERATIONS
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION SHARE INSURANCE FUND

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION
For the Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Dollars in thousands)

2012 2011
CUMULATIVE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

BUDGETARY FINANCING SOURCES

     

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

CUMULATIVE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL (Note 12)

CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL 

NET POSITION
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION SHARE INSURANCE FUND 

STATEMENTS OF BUDGETARY RESOURCES
For the Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Dollars in thousands)

2012 2011
BUDGETARY RESOURCES  (Notes 11 and 14)

TOTAL BUDGETARY RESOURCES

STATUS OF BUDGETARY RESOURCES

TOTAL STATUS OF BUDGETARY RESOURCES

CHANGE IN OBLIGATED BALANCE

OBLIGATED BALANCE, END OF YEAR (NET)

BUDGET AUTHORITY AND OUTLAYS, NET

BUDGET AUTHORITY, NET (MANDATORY)

AGENCY OUTLAYS, NET (MANDATORY)
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION SHARE INSURANCE FUND 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011  

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Reporting Entity 

et seq.

Fiduciary Responsibilities 

Accounting for Fiduciary Activities

Sources of Funding 
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Recent Legislation 
The National Credit Union Authority Clarification Act

The National Credit Union Authority Clarification Act 

The National Credit Union Authority Clarification Act

Basis of Presentation 

Financial Reporting Requirements,

The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, Including 
the Application of Standards Issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board

Basis of Accounting 

Federal Credit Reform Act of 
1990

Use of Estimates  
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Fund Balance with Treasury 

Investments 

Investments – Debt and Equity Securities

Accounts Receivable 
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Capitalization Deposits from Insured Credit Unions 

Premium Assessments from Insured Credit Unions 
Administration of 

the Insurance Fund

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

Accrued Interest Receivable 

Notes Receivable  

Other - Receivables from Asset Management Estates 
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Distribution Payable 

Accounting for Liabilities of the Federal Government
Distributions from Fund 

Required

Insurance and Guarantee Program Liabilities 

Net Position and Contributed Capital 

Revenue Recognition 

Exchange Revenue 
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Non-Exchange Revenue 

Accounting for Revenue and Other Financing Sources and Concepts 
for Reconciling Budgetary and Financial Accounting

Statement of Budgetary Resources 

Financial Reporting Requirements

Tax-Exempt Status

Reclassification 

2. FUND BALANCE WITH TREASURY 

2012 2011
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3. INVESTMENTS 

2012 2011
Fair value Fair value



National Credit Union Administration
82

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

Intragovernmental – Accounts Receivable 

Note Due from the NCUA Operating Fund 

Secured
Years Ending Term Note
December 31

Public – Accounts Receivable 

Capitalization Deposits from Insured Credit Unions 

Premium Assessments from Insured Credit Unions 
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5. NOTES RECEIVABLE  

6. OTHER – RECEIVABLES FROM ASSET MANAGEMENT ESTATES    

For the Year Ended 
December 31, 2012

For the Year Ended 
December 31, 2011

7. OTHER LIABILITIES – INSURANCE AND GUARANTEE PROGRAM LIABILITIES 
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For the Year Ended 
December 31, 2012

For the Year Ended 
December 31, 2011
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8. OTHER LIABILITIES – DISTRIBUTION PAYABLE 

Distributions from Fund Required

9. INTRAGOVERNMENTAL COSTS AND EXCHANGE REVENUE 

Intragovernmental Costs and Exchange 
Revenue

  For the Year Ended 
December 31, 2012  

  For the Year Ended 
December 31, 2011  
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Administrative Services Reimbursed to 
the NCUA Operating Fund

  For the Year Ended 
December 31, 2012  

  For the Year Ended 
December 31, 2011  

10. AVAILABLE BORROWING AUTHORITY, END OF PERIOD 

11. DISCLOSURES RELATED TO THE STATEMENTS OF BUDGETARY RESOURCES 
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12. CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL 

Credit Union Membership Access Act of 1998

Helping Families Act of 2009

13. FIDUCIARY ACTIVITIES 
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Accounting for Fiduciary Activities

Schedule of Fiduciary Activity
 For the Year Ended 
December 31, 2012 

 For the Year Ended 
December 31, 2011 

Revenues

Expenses

Net Change in Recovery Value of Assets and Liabilities 

Fiduciary Net Liabilities, end of year (974,820)$                 (823,594)$                 

As of As of 
Schedule of Fiduciary Net Assets/Liabilities December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Fiduciary Assets

Total Fiduciary Assets 244,340                    136,396                    

Fiduciary Liabilities

Total Fiduciary Liabilities 1,219,160                 959,990                    

Total Fiduciary Net Assets/(Liabilities) (974,820)$                   (823,594)$                  
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14. RECONCILIATION OF NET COST OF OPERATIONS TO BUDGET 

Reconciliation of Net Cost of Operations to Budget
As of 

December 31, 2012 
As of 

December 31, 2011

Resources Used to Finance Activities:
Budgetary Resources Obligated

Net Obligations

Other Resources: 

Total Resources Used to Finance Activities 

Resources Used to Fund Items Not Part of the Net Cost of Operations:

Total Resources Used to Fund Items Not Part of the
Net Cost of Operations

Resources Used to Finance the Net Cost of Operations 

Components of Net Cost of Operations that will not 
Require or Generate Resources in the Current Period

Components not Requiring or Generating Resources

Total Components of Net Cost of Operations That Do Not 
Require or Generate Resources During the Reporting Period 

Net Cost/ (Income) from Operations 

15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED) 

Risk Assumed Information  

Insurance and Guarantee Program Liabilities 

Fees and Premiums 

Sensitivity, Risks and Uncertainties of the Assumptions 
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National Credit Union Administration
Operating Fund

Financial Statements as of and for the 
Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011,

and  Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Inspector General, National Credit Union Administration and 
the Board of Directors, National Credit Union Administration: 

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the National Credit Union Administration 
Operating Fund (OF), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the 
related statements of revenues, expenses and changes in fund balance, and cash flows for the years then 
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management's Responsibilities

OF management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements
(Internal Control Over Financial Reporting) that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States; and Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Bulletin No. 07-
04, Audit Requirements for Federal Financial Statements, as amended. Those standards and OMB Bulletin 
No. 07-04 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion on the Financial Statements

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects, the financial 
position of the National Credit Union Administration Operating Fund as of December 31, 2012 and 2011,
and the results of its operations, changes in fund balance, and cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

KPMG LLP
Suite 12000
1801 K Street, NW  
Washington, DC 20006

KPMG LLP is a Delaware limited liability partnership,
the U.S. member firm of KPMG International Cooperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
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Other Reporting Responsibilities

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered OF’s internal control as a 
basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing 
our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the OF’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the OF’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of 
the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not 
been identified. 

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the OF’s financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, and 
contracts, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of 
financial statement amounts and certain provisions of other laws and regulations specified in OMB 
Bulletin No. 07-04. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests 
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards or OMB Bulletin No. 07-04.  

Purpose of the Other Reporting Responsibilities

The purpose of the communication related to internal control over financial reporting and compliance and 
other matters described in the Other Reporting Responsibilities section is solely to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control and compliance and the result of that testing and not to provide an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or compliance.  This communication is an integral part of 
an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal 
control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

February 14, 2013 
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION ADMINISTRATION 
OPERATING FUND 

BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011 
(Dollars in thousands) 

2012 2011
ASSETS:

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Note 3) $36,521 $36,982

DUE FROM NATIONAL CREDIT UNION SHARE INSURANCE
  FUND (Note 7) 2,040 1,182

EMPLOYEE ADVANCES 25 43

OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, Net (Note 7) 211 885

PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER ASSETS 1,055 1,015

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (Note 6) 854 397

FIXED ASSETS — Net of accumulated depreciation of $27,208 and $25,231 
 as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively (Note 4) 31,464 31,760

INTANGIBLE ASSETS — Net of accumulated amortization of $10,772 and $8,333
 as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively (Note 5)     5,232     7,367

TOTAL $77,402 $79,631

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE:

LIABILITIES:
  Accounts payable and accrued other liabilities $4,604 $7,074
  Obligations under capital leases (Note 8) 78 58
  Accrued wages and benefits 10,178 9,295
  Accrued annual leave 13,832 12,699
  Accrued employee travel 695 628
  Notes payable to National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund (Note 7)   14,415   15,756

           Total liabilities 43,802 45,510

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Notes 7, 8, 11 & 12)

FUND BALANCE   33,600   34,121

TOTAL $77,402 $79,631

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION ADMINISTRATION 
OPERATING FUND 

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
(Dollars in thousands) 

 

2012 2011

REVENUES:
  Operating fees 88,798$    86,197$    
  Interest 47             18             
  Other 1,280       1,200       

           Total revenues 90,125      87,415      

EXPENSES, NET (Note 7):
  Employee wages and benefits 66,509      62,194      
  Travel 9,946        9,809        
  Rent, communications, and utilities 1,949        1,936        
  Contracted services 7,123        6,326        
  Depreciation and amortization 6,289        4,695        
  Administrative (1,170)      1,242       

           Total expenses 90,646     86,202     

EXCESS OF REVENUES (UNDER) / OVER 
EXPENSES (521)          1,213        

FUND BALANCE—Beginning of year 34,121     32,908     

FUND BALANCE—End of year 33,600$   34,121$   

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION ADMINISTRATION 
OPERATING FUND 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
(Dollars in thousands) 

2012 2011

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Excess of revenues (under) / over expenses (521)$        1,213$      
Adjustments to reconcile excess of revenues over expenses to net cash provided by 
operating activities:
    Depreciation and amortization 6,289        4,695        
    Provision for loss on disposal of employee residences held for sale 186           305           
    Loss on fixed asset and intangible asset retirements 107           2               
    (Increase) decrease in assets:
      Due from National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund (858)          1,675        
      Employee advances 18             7               
      Other accounts receivable, net 674           (536)          
      Prepaid expenses and other assets (40)            356           
    (Decrease) increase in liabilities:
      Accounts payable (2,470)       2,031        
      Accrued wages and benefits 883           714           
      Accrued annual leave 1,133        1,298        
      Accrued employee travel 67            96            

           Net cash provided by operating activities 5,468       11,856     

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
  Purchases of fixed assets and intangible assets (3,950)       (6,146)       
  Proceeds from insurance on fixed assets 25             -
  Purchases of employee residences held for sale (1,301)       (1,197)       
  Proceeds from sale of employee residences held for sale 658          1,192       

           Net cash used in investing activities (4,568)      (6,151)      

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
  Repayments of notes payable to National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund (1,341)       (1,341)       
  Principal payments under capital lease obligations (20)           (27)           

           Net cash used in financing activities (1,361)      (1,368)      

NET (DECREASE) / INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (461)          4,337        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—Beginning of year 36,982     32,645     

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—End of year 36,521$   36,982$   

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH ACTIVITIES -
Acquisition of equipment under capital lease 40$          61$          

CASH PAYMENTS FOR INTEREST 290$        344$        

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION ADMINISTRATION 
OPERATING FUND 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011

1.  ORGANIZATION AND PURPOSE

The National Credit Union Administration Operating Fund (the “Fund”) was created by the 
Federal Credit Union Act of 1934. The Fund was established as a revolving fund in the United 
States Treasury under the management of the National Credit Union Administration (NCUA) 
Board for the purpose of providing administration and service to the Federal credit union system.

A significant majority of the Fund’s revenue is comprised of operating fees paid by Federal 
credit unions.  Each Federal credit union is required to pay this fee based on its prior year asset 
balances and rates set by the NCUA Board.

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation – The Fund has historically prepared its financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
(GAAP), based on standards issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), the 
private sector standards setting body.  The Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board 
(FASAB) is the standards setting body for the establishment of GAAP with respect to the 
financial statements of Federal Government entities.  FASAB has indicated that financial 
statements prepared based upon standards promulgated by FASB may also be regarded as in 
accordance with GAAP for Federal entities that have issued financial statements based upon
FASB standards in the past. 

Basis of Accounting – The Fund maintains its accounting records in accordance with the accrual 
basis of accounting.  As such, the Fund recognizes income when earned and expenses when 
incurred. In addition, the Fund records investment transactions when they are executed and 
recognizes interest on investments when it is earned.

Related Parties – The Fund exists within NCUA and is one of five funds managed by the 
NCUA Board. The other funds managed by the Board, deemed related parties, are:

a) The National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund (NCUSIF) 
b) The National Credit Union Administration Temporary Corporate Credit Union 

Stabilization Fund (TCCUSF) 
c) The National Credit Union Administration Central Liquidity Facility (CLF)
d) The National Credit Union Administration Community Development Revolving Loan 

Fund (CDRLF). 
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The Fund supports these related parties by providing office space, information technology 
services, and supplies, as well as paying employees’ salaries and benefits.  Certain types of 
support are reimbursed to the Fund by NCUSIF, TCCUSF and CLF as described in Note 7. 

Cash Equivalents – Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments with original maturities of 
three months or less.  The Federal Credit Union Act permits the Fund to invest in United States 
Government securities or securities with both principal and interest guaranteed by the United 
States Government.  All investments in 2012 and 2011 were cash equivalents and are stated at 
cost, which approximates fair value. 

Fixed and Intangible Assets – Buildings, furniture, equipment, computer software, and 
leasehold improvements are recorded at cost.  Computer software includes the cost of labor 
incurred by both external and internal programmers, and other personnel in the development of 
the software. Capital leases are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease 
payments.  Depreciation and amortization are computed by the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives of buildings, furniture, equipment, and computer software, and the shorter 
of either the estimated useful life or lease term for leasehold improvements and capital leases. 
Estimated useful lives are 40 years for the building and two to ten years for the furniture, 
equipment, computer software, and leasehold improvements. 

Long-lived Assets/Impairments – Fixed and intangible assets, subject to amortization, are 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If the carrying value of the long-lived asset or asset 
group is not recoverable, an impairment is recognized to the extent that the carrying value 
exceeds its fair value. Fair value is determined through various valuation techniques, including 
discounted cash flow models, quoted market values, and third party independent appraisals, as 
considered necessary.

For impairments, the Fund’s policy is to identify assets that are no longer in service, obsolete, or 
need to be written down, and perform an impairment analysis based on FASB Accounting 
Standards Codification (ASC) 360-10-35, Property, Plant, and Equipment, requirements.  
Subsequent adjustment to individual asset values are made to correspond with any identified 
changes in useful lives. 

Assets Held for Sale – The Fund holds certain real estate held for sale.  Such held for sale assets 
are ready for immediate sale in their present condition.  Real estate held for sale is recorded at 
the fair value less cost to sell.  If an asset’s fair value less cost to sell—based on a review of 
available financial information including but not limited to appraisals, markets analyses, etc. — 
is less than its carrying amount, the carrying value of the asset is adjusted to its fair value less 
costs to sell.

Gains on disposition of real estate are recognized upon sale of the underlying asset.  The Fund 
evaluates each real estate transaction to determine if it qualifies for gain recognition under the 
full accrual method.  If the transaction does not meet the criteria for the full accrual method, the 
appropriate deferral method is used. 
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Accounts Receivable – Receivables include amounts due from the NCUSIF, employee 
advances, and other accounts receivable.  In 2011, amounts also include a non-recurring rent 
incentive associated with an office lease in Alexandria, Virginia. 

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Fund’s Other Accounts Receivable includes an 
allowance in the amount of $76,000 and $0, respectively.  

Accounts Payable and Accrued Other Liabilities – The Fund incurs administrative expenses 
and liabilities for programs pertaining to related parties that are controlled by the NCUA Board. 
Accruals are made as expenses are incurred.  Accrued other liabilities include contingent 
liabilities, as described in Note 11.

Accrued Benefits – The Fund incurs expenses for retirement plans, employment taxes, workers 
compensation, transportation subsidies, and other benefits mandated by law.  Corresponding 
liabilities recorded contain both short-term and long-term liabilities, including liabilities under 
the Federal Employees’ Compensation Act (FECA).  This act provides income and medical cost 
protection to covered Federal civilian employees injured on the job, employees who have 
incurred a work-related occupational disease, and beneficiaries of employees whose death is 
attributable to a job-related injury or occupational disease.

Operating Fees – Each federally chartered credit union is assessed an annual fee based on their 
assets as of the preceding 31st day of December.  The fee is designed to cover the costs of 
providing administration and service to the Federal credit union system. The Fund recognizes 
this operating fee revenue ratably over the calendar year.

Revenue Recognition – Interest revenue and other revenue relating to Freedom of Information 
Act (FOIA) fees, sales of publications, parking income, and rental income is recognized when 
earned.

Income Taxes – The Fund is exempt from Federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(1) of the 
Internal Revenue Code.

Leases – Operating leases are entered into for the acquisition of office space and equipment as 
part of administering NCUA’s program.  The cost of operating leases is recognized on the 
straight-line method over the life of the lease and includes, if applicable, any reductions resulting 
from incentives such as rent holidays.  The same method is used to recognize income from 
operating leases. Certain office space for which NCUA is a lessee is subject to escalations in 
rent, as described in Note 8. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments – The following method and assumption was used in 
estimating the fair value disclosures for financial instruments: 

Cash and cash equivalents, receivables from related parties, employee advances, other accounts
receivable (net), accounts and notes payable to NCUSIF, and other accounts payable are 
recorded at book values, which approximate their respective fair values.
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Use of Estimates – The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses incurred during the reporting period.  Significant 
estimates include the determination of the FECA liability, certain intangible asset values, and if 
there is any determination of a long-lived asset impairment, the related measurement of the 
impairment charges.

Commitments and Contingencies – Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, 
assessments, litigation, fines and penalties, and other sources are recorded when it is probable 
that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Legal costs 
incurred in connection with loss contingencies are expensed as incurred.

Advertising Costs – Advertising costs, per FASB ASC 720-35-50, Other Expenses - Advertising 
Costs, consist primarily of radio and Internet advertisements.  Advertising costs are expensed as 
incurred.  The Fund enters into certain contracts for the purpose of advertising.  In 2012 and 
2011, advertising expenses amounted to approximately $0 and $248,000, respectively.  

3.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Fund’s cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows (in 
thousands): 

2012 2011

Deposit with U.S. Treasury  $       435  $       240 
U.S. Treasury Overnight Investments      36,086      36,742 

Total  $  36,521  $  36,982 

As a revolving fund within the U.S. Treasury, the Operating Fund does not hold any cash or cash 
equivalents outside of Treasury. 
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4.  FIXED ASSETS

Fixed assets, including furniture and equipment, are comprised of the following as of December 
31, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands): 

2012 2011

Office building and land 47,899$ 46,336$
Furniture and equipment 10,265 9,394
Leasehold improvements 406 376
Equipment under capital leases 102 99

  Total 58,672 56,205

Less accumulated depreciation (27,208) (25,231)
Assets under construction - 786

Fixed assets — net 31,464$ 31,760$

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 totaled $2,427,000 and 
$2,407,000, respectively.

In 2011, assets under construction primarily represented costs incurred related to building 
improvements to the King Street NCUA headquarters office space.  Upon completion in 2012, 
all costs were fully capitalized and transferred to “Office building and land”. 

5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets are comprised of the following as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 (in 
thousands). 

2012 2011

Internal-use software 15,823$ 13,187$
Less accumulated amortization (10,772) (8,333)

Total 5,051 4,854

Internal-use software-in development 181 2,513

Intangible assets — net 5,232$ 7,367$
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Internal-use software is computer software that is either acquired externally or developed 
internally.  Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 totaled 
$3,862,000 and $2,288,000, respectively.

Internal-use software that is in development represents costs incurred from the customization of  
software purchased from external vendors for internal use as well as the cost of software that is 
developed in-house. 

6. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Real estate available for sale purchased by the Fund is from employees enrolled in the agency’s 
home purchase program who are unable to sell their homes in a specified time period.  It is the 
agency’s intent to dispose of these properties as quickly as possible.  Sales of homes are 
generally expected to occur within one year, pending market forces.  Currently, the Fund owns 
three homes.  Ongoing costs to maintain properties are expensed as incurred.  The balance of real 
estate available for sale as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 was $854,000 and $397,000, 
respectively, net of impairment charges and costs to sell of $120,000 and $133,000 as of 
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

7.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Transactions with NCUSIF

Certain administrative services are provided by the Fund to NCUSIF.  The Fund charges 
NCUSIF for these services based upon an annual allocation factor approved by the NCUA Board 
and derived from a study of actual usage.  The allocation factor was 100% of the expenses of the 
Office of Corporate Credit Unions to the extent that it exceeds the actual operating fees paid by 
Federal corporate credit unions, plus 59.3% of all other expenses to NCUSIF for 2012 and 58.9%
for 2011.  The cost of the services allocated to NCUSIF, which totaled $137,528,000 and
$129,985,000 for 2012 and 2011, respectively, is reflected as a reduction of the expenses shown 
in the accompanying financial statements. These transactions are settled monthly. As of 
December 31, 2012 and 2011, amounts due from NCUSIF, under this allocation method, totaled 
$2,040,000 and $1,182,000, respectively.

In 1992, the Fund entered into a commitment to borrow up to $41,975,000 in a 30-year secured 
term note with NCUSIF.  The monies were drawn as needed to fund the costs of constructing a
building in 1993. Interest costs incurred were $290,000 and $344,000 for 2012 and 2011, 
respectively.  The notes payable balances as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 were $14,415,000
and $15,756,000, respectively.  The current portion of the long term debt is $1,341,000 as of 
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 

The variable rate on the note is equal to NCUSIF’s prior-month yield on investments.  The 
average interest rates during 2012 and 2011 were 1.93% and 2.10%, respectively.  The interest 
rates as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 were 1.83% and 2.01%, respectively.
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The secured term note requires principal repayments as of December 31, 2012 as follows (in 
thousands): 

Years Ending Secured
December 31 Term Note

2013  $         1,341 
2014             1,341 
2015             1,341 
2016             1,341 
2017             1,341 
Thereafter             7,710 

Total  $       14,415 

(b) Transactions with CLF

Certain administrative services are provided by the Fund to CLF.  The Fund pays CLF’s 
employee salaries and related benefits, as well as CLF’s portion of building and operating costs. 
Reimbursements of these expenses are determined by applying a ratio of CLF full-time 
equivalent employees to the NCUA total, with settlement and payment occurring quarterly. All 
other CLF reimbursement expenses are paid annually.  The costs of the services provided to CLF 
were $553,000 and $637,000 for the years ending December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, 
and are reflected as a reduction of the expenses shown in the accompanying financial statements. 

Other accounts receivable include $0 and $171,000 of amounts due from the CLF as of 
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

(c) Support of CDRLF

Pursuant to the Act, the Fund supports the administration of programs under CDRLF by paying 
related personnel and other associated costs.  The estimation of administrative expenses includes 
personnel related costs, travel, training, telephone, supplies, printing and postage. 

For the years ending December 31, 2012 and 2011, administrative support to CDRLF is 
estimated at (in thousands): 

2012 2011

Personnel  $        347  $        331 
Other              89              20 

Total  $        436  $        351 
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(d) Support of TCCUSF 

Pursuant to the Act, the Fund supports the administration of programs under TCCUSF by paying 
related personnel and other associated costs.  The estimation of administrative expenses includes 
personnel related costs, travel, training, telephone, supplies, printing and postage. 

For the years ending December 31, 2012 and 2011, administrative support to TCCUSF is 
estimated at (in thousands): 

2012 2011

Personnel  $     1,838  $     3,674 
Other              59            104 

Total  $     1,897  $     3,778 

In 2012, the Fund began collecting from TCCUSF, reimbursements for the salary and benefits of 
certain staff in newly created positions who directly work on TCCUSF-related activities with 
settlement and payment occurring quarterly. The total amount associated with these staff was 
$231,000 in 2012, which is not included in the above table. 

(e) Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (FFIEC)

NCUA is one of the five Federal agencies that fund FFIEC operations.  Under FFIEC’s charter, 
NCUA’s Chairman is appointed as a Member and currently serves as its Chairman.  FFIEC was 
established on March 10, 1979 as a formal inter-agency body empowered to prescribe uniform 
principles, standards, and report forms for the Federal examination of financial institutions by 
NCUA, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, the Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau, and the State Liaison Committee.  FFIEC was also established to make 
recommendations to promote uniformity in the supervision of financial institutions.  
Additionally, FFIEC provides training to staff employed by Member agencies; the Member 
agencies are charged for these trainings based on use.  For the years ended December 31, 2012 
and 2011, FFIEC assessments totaled $868,000 and $828,000, respectively.  FFIEC’s 2013
budgeted assessments to NCUA total $748,000 (unaudited). 

(f) Real Estate Available for Sale 

The Fund purchases homes from employees enrolled in the agency’s home purchase program 
who are unable to sell their homes in a specified time period, as mentioned in Note 6. 

8.  LEASE COMMITMENTS

Description of Leasing Agreements - The Fund has entered into lease agreements with vendors 
for the rental of office space and office equipment, which includes laptops, and copiers. 
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Operating Leases – The Fund leases a portion of NCUA’s office space under lease agreements 
that will continue through 2017.  Office rental charges amounted to approximately $1,156,000
and $1,129,000, of which approximately $685,000 and $665,000 were reimbursed by NCUSIF 
for 2012 and 2011, respectively.  In addition, the Fund leases laptop computers and other office 
equipment under operating leases with lease terms that will continue through 2015. 

Capital Leases – The Fund leases copier equipment under lease agreements that run through 
2017.  Amounts presented in the table below include $13,000 of imputed interest.

The future minimum lease payments to be paid over the next five years as of December 31, 
2012, before reimbursements, are as follows (in thousands): 

Years Ending Operating Capital
December 31 Leases Leases

2013 1,664$       24$              
2014 1,174         24                
2015 689            22                
2016 191            15                
2017 193            6                  
Thereafter -                -                  

Total 3,911$      91$             

Based on the allocation factor approved by the NCUA Board, NCUSIF is expected to reimburse 
the Fund for approximately 59.1% of the 2013 operating lease payments.

The Fund, as a lessor, holds operating lease agreements with three tenants, each of whom rents a 
portion of the Fund’s building for retail space.  The leases carry five year terms with escalating 
rent payments.  The last of these leases is set to expire in 2015. 
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Years Ending Scheduled
December 31 Rent Payments

9.  RETIREMENT PLANS

Compensation and Benefits.  
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10. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following disclosures of the estimated fair values are made in accordance with the 
requirements of FASB ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures.  Fair value is the 
amount that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The accounting standards established a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation 
techniques used to measure fair value.  The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted 
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1 measurements) and the 
lowest priority to measurements involving significant unobservable inputs (level 3 
measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the Fund has the ability to access at the measurement date
Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly
Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which a fair value measurement in its entirety falls is 
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.

The Fund has no financial instruments that are subject to fair value measurement on a recurring 
basis.

The following table presents the carrying amounts and established fair values (in thousands) of 
the Fund’s assets held for sale as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.  The impairment charges are 
recorded within the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in fund balance and represent 
non-recurring fair value measures.

Amortized 
Cost Basis

Aggregate 
Fair Value

Total 
Impairment 

Charges 
Amortized 
Cost Basis

Aggregate 
Fair Value

Total 
Impairment 

Charges 

Assets held for sale 854$ 854$ 120$ 397$ 397$ 133$

2012 2011

 
Assets held for sale – Assets held for sale represents residences from relocating employees and 
is presented at aggregate fair value less cost to sell.  The fair value measurement recorded during 
the period includes pending purchase contracts, the lower of list prices or appraisals if less than 
six months old (if no pending purchase contracts exist), or recent market analyses (if no recent 
list prices or appraisals are readily available).  Additionally, the fair value incorporates estimated
reductions in the fair value to recognize costs to sell the properties.  The Fund believes that these 
measurements fairly reflect the most current valuation of the assets.  Accordingly, the Fund uses 
level 3 inputs to measure the fair value of these investments.
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The carrying values approximate the fair values of certain financial instruments as of December 
31, 2012 and 2011, were as follows (in thousands): 

Carrying 
Amount 

Estimated 
Fair Value

Carrying 
Amount 

Estimated 
Fair Value

Cash and cash equivalents $36,521 $36,521 $36,982 $36,982
Due from NCUSIF 2,040 2,040 1,182 1,182
Employee advances 25 25 43 43
Other accounts receivable, net 211 211 885 885
Obligation under capital lease 78 78 58 58
Notes payable to NCUSIF 14,415 14,415 15,756 15,756

2012 2011

Cash and Cash Equivalents – The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents financial 
instruments approximates fair value as the short-term nature of these instruments does not lead to 
significant fluctuations in value.  Cash equivalents are U.S. Treasury overnight investments. 

Due from NCUSIF – The carrying amounts for the due from NCUSIF financial instruments 
approximates fair value, as the amount is scheduled to be paid is within the first quarter of fiscal 
year 2013. 

Employee Advances – The carrying amounts for receivables from employees’ financial
instruments approximates fair value, as the amount is scheduled to be paid in fiscal year 2013. 

Other Accounts Receivable, Net – The carrying amounts for other accounts receivable
approximates fair value, as the original gross amounts have been written down by an allowance 
to reflect the net amount that is deemed collectible.

Obligation under Capital Lease – The carrying amounts for the remaining obligations owed on 
capital leases financial instruments approximates fair value because the underlying interest rates 
approximates rates currently available to the Fund.

Notes Payable to NCUSIF – The carrying amounts for notes payable to NCUSIF financial 
instruments approximates fair value due to its variable rate nature.

11. CONTINGENCIES

NCUA recognizes contingent liabilities when a past event or transaction has occurred, a future 
outflow or other sacrifice of resources is probable, and the future outflow or sacrifice of 
resources is measurable.  NCUA is party to various routine administrative proceedings, legal 
actions, and claims brought against it, which has or may ultimately result in settlements or 
decisions against the agency.  For those matters where an estimate is possible and the loss is 
probable, such amount has been accrued in other liabilities as of December 31, 2012. 
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12. COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

NCUA has a collective bargaining agreement (CBA) with the National Treasury Employees 
Union (NTEU) that became effective on November 1, 2011.  NTEU is the exclusive 
representative of approximately 80% of NCUA employees.  This agreement will remain in effect 
for a period of three years from its effective date and will be automatically renewable for 
additional one year periods until otherwise renegotiated by the parties.

13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent events have been evaluated through February 14, 2013, which is the date the 
financial statements were available to be issued, and management determined that there are no 
other items to disclose.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Report on the Financial Statements

Management's Responsibilities

Auditors’ Responsibilities

Government Auditing Standards

Audit Requirements for Federal Financial Statements

Opinion on the Financial Statements

KPMG LLP
Suite 12000
1801 K Street, NW  
Washington, DC 20006

KPMG LLP is a Delaware limited liability partnership,
the U.S. member firm of KPMG International Cooperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
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Purpose of the Other Reporting Responsibilities

Government Auditing Standards
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION ADMINISTRATION
CENTRAL LIQUIDITY FACILITY

BALANCE SHEETS 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

2012 2011
ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS’ EQUITY
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION ADMINISTRATION
CENTRAL LIQUIDITY FACILITY

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

2012 2011
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION ADMINISTRATION
CENTRAL LIQUIDITY FACILITY

STATEMENTS OF MEMBERS’ EQUITY 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

Shares Amount
Retained 
Earnings Total
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION ADMINISTRATION
CENTRAL LIQUIDITY FACILITY

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

2012 2011
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION ADMINISTRATION
CENTRAL LIQUIDITY FACILITY

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 and 2011_________________________

1. ORGANIZATION AND PURPOSE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

Basis of Accounting

Use of Estimates
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Investments

Classification of Investment Securities,

Loans and Allowance for Loan Losses

Liquidity Needs 

Borrowings 

Tax-Exempt Status

Commitments and Contingencies –

Reclassifications

Related Parties
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3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

5. INVESTMENTS

As of December 31, 2012

As of December 31, 2011

As of 
December 31, 

2012

As of 
December 31, 

2011
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable

Investments held-to-maturity

Member Deposits

Other

As of December, 31 2012 As of December 31, 2011
Net 

Carrying 
Amount

Aggregate 
Fair Value

Net 
Carrying 
Amount

Aggregate 
Fair Value
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Financial Instruments

As of December 31, 
2012

As of December 31, 
2011

Carrying 
Value

Fair 
Value

Carrying 
Value

Fair 
Value

7. OTHER LIABILITIES

8. CAPITAL STOCK
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Mandatorily Redeemable Financial 
Instruments
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 As of December 31, 2012  As of December 31, 2011 

Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount 

        
  

  

 
 

9. MEMBER DEPOSITS

10. BORROWING AUTHORITY
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National Credit Union Administration
Community Development Revolving Loan Fund

Financial Statements as of and for the 
Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011,

and  Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Inspector General, National Credit Union Administration and 
the Board of Directors, National Credit Union Administration: 

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the National Credit Union Administration 
Community Development Revolving Loan Fund (CDRLF), which comprise the balance sheets as of 
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related statements of operations, changes in fund balance, and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management's Responsibilities

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements 
(Internal Control Over Financial Reporting) that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States; and Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Bulletin No. 07-
04, Audit Requirements for Federal Financial Statements, as amended. Those standards and OMB Bulletin 
No. 07-04 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion on the Financial Statements

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects, the financial 
position of the National Credit Union Administration Community Development Revolving Loan Fund as 
of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the results of its operations, changes in fund balance, and cash flows 
for the years then ended in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

KPMG LLP
Suite 12000
1801 K Street, NW  
Washington, DC 20006

KPMG LLP is a Delaware limited liability partnership,
the U.S. member firm of KPMG International Cooperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
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Other Reporting Responsibilities

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the CDRLF’s internal 
control as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose 
of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the CDRLF’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the CDRLF’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of 
the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not 
been identified.  

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the CDRLF’s financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts and certain provisions of other laws and regulations specified 
in OMB Bulletin No. 07-04. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not 
an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests 
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards or OMB Bulletin No. 07-04.  

Purpose of the Other Reporting Responsibilities

The purpose of the communication related to internal control over financial reporting and compliance and 
other matters described in the Other Reporting Responsibilities section is solely to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control and compliance and the result of that testing and not to provide an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or compliance.  This communication is an integral part of 
an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal 
control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
 
February 13, 2013 
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION ADMINISTRATION
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT REVOLVING LOAN FUND

BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011

2012 2011
ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION ADMINISTRATION
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT REVOLVING LOAN FUND

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011

2012 2011
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION ADMINISTRATION
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT REVOLVING LOAN FUND

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011

For Loans

For Technical 
Assistance 

Grants
Total Fund 

Capital
Accumulated 

Earnings
Total Fund 

Balance

Fund Capital
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION ADMINISTRATION
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT REVOLVING LOAN FUND 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011

2012 2011
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NATIONAL CREDIT UNION ADMINISTRATION
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT REVOLVING LOAN FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011  

1. NATURE OF ORGANIZATION

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING AND OPERATIONAL POLICIES

Basis of Presentation – 

Basis of Accounting –

Cash Equivalents –



NCUA
National Credit Union Administration

NCUA 2012 Annual Report
137

Loans Receivable and Allowance for Loan Losses – 

Accrued Technical Assistance Grants –

Related Party Transactions –

Revenue Recognition –

Use of Estimates –
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Income Taxes –

Commitments and Contingencies –

3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2012 2011

4. GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS 
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5. LOANS RECEIVABLE

2012 2011

2012



National Credit Union Administration
140

6. CANCELLED TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE GRANTS

7. CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK 

8. ESTIMATED FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Loans Receivable

Other
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Carrying Amount Estimated Fair Value Carrying Amount Estimated Fair Value
2012 2011

9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

10. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

2012 2011
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Statistical Data
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National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund Ten-Year Trends
	
  

	
  

Fiscal	
  year	
   2003	
   2004	
   2005	
   20063	
   2007	
   2008	
   2009	
   20104	
   2011	
   2012	
  

INCOME	
  (IN	
  THOUSANDS)	
  

Premium	
   —	
   —	
   —	
   —	
   —	
   —	
   $727,466	
   $929,952	
   —	
   —	
  
Investment	
  income1	
   $151,175	
   $124,836	
   $175,017	
   $264,895	
   $320,163	
   $390,922	
   $188,774	
   $216,921	
   $226,011	
   $206,995	
  

Other	
  income	
   $760	
   $515	
   $645	
   $1,326	
   $1,166	
   $4,737	
   $33,319	
   $49,223	
   $1,037	
   	
  $8,768	
  	
  
Total	
  income	
  	
   $151,935	
   $125,351	
   $175,662	
   $266,221	
   $321,329	
   $395,659	
   $949,559	
   $1,196,096	
   $227,048	
   	
  $215,763	
  
EXPENSES	
  (IN	
  THOUSANDS)	
  
Operating	
  	
   $85,025	
   $81,405	
   $80,473	
   $82,056	
   $79,218	
   $81,516	
   $134,624	
   $165,830	
   $132,358	
   	
  $141,237	
  	
  

Insurance	
  losses	
   $38,043	
   $(3,424)	
   $20,940	
   $2,548	
   $186,397	
   $290,354	
   $625,140	
   $735,562	
   $(532,408)	
   	
  $(77,784)	
  

Total	
  expenses	
   $123,068	
   $77,981	
   $101,413	
   $84,604	
   $265,615	
   $371,870	
   $759,764	
   $901,392	
   $(400,050)	
   $63,453	
  
Net	
  Income	
  	
  
(In	
  thousands)	
  

	
  	
  $28,867	
   	
  	
  $47,370	
   	
  	
  $74,249	
   	
  181,617	
   $55,714	
   	
  	
  $23,789	
   $189,795	
   	
  	
  	
  $294,704	
   	
  	
  $627,098	
   $152,310	
  

DATA	
  HIGHLIGHTS	
   	
  

Total	
  equity	
  	
  
(in	
  millions)2	
  

$6,073	
   $6,359	
   $6,618	
   $6,978	
   $7,261	
   $7,677	
   $8,957	
   $9,670	
   $10,339	
   $10,912	
  
	
  

Equity	
  as	
  a	
  percentage	
  
of	
  shares	
  in	
  insured	
  
credit	
  unions	
  

1.27%	
   1.27%	
   1.28%	
   1.30%	
   1.29%	
   1.26%	
   1.23%	
   1.28%	
   1.30%	
   1.30%	
  

NCUSIF	
  loss	
  per	
  $1,000	
  
of	
  insured	
  shares	
  

$0.08	
   $0.00	
   $0.04	
   $0.00	
   $0.33	
   $0.47	
   $0.86	
   $0.97	
   $(0.67)	
   ($0.09)	
  

OPERATING	
  RATIOS	
  
Premium	
  income	
   —	
   —	
   —	
   —	
   —	
   —	
   76.6%	
   77.8%	
   	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  —	
   —	
  
Investment	
  income	
   99.5%	
   99.6%	
   99.6%	
   99.5%	
   99.6%	
   98.8%	
   19.9%	
   18.1%	
   99.5%	
   95.9%	
  

Other	
  income	
   0.5%	
   0.4%	
   0.4%	
   0.5%	
   0.4%	
   1.2%	
   3.5%	
   4.1%	
   0.5%	
   4.1%	
  
Operating	
  expenses	
   56.0%	
   64.9%	
   45.8%	
   30.8%	
   24.7%	
   20.6%	
   14.2%	
   13.9%	
   58.3%	
   65.5%	
  

Insurance	
  losses	
   25.0%	
   (2.7)%	
   11.9%	
   1.0%	
   58.0%	
   73.4%	
   65.8%	
   61.5%	
   (-­‐234.5%)	
   (-­‐36.1%)	
  

Total	
  expenses	
   81.0%	
   62.2%	
   57.7%	
   31.8%	
   82.7%	
   94.0%	
   80.0%	
   75.4%	
   (-­‐176.2%)	
   29.4%	
  
Net	
  income	
   19.0%	
   37.8%	
   42.3%	
   68.2%	
   17.3%	
   6.0%	
   20.0%	
   24.6%	
   276.2%	
   70.6%	
  
INVOLUNTARY	
  LIQUIDATIONS	
  COMMENCED	
  

Number	
   8	
   14	
   10	
   12	
   7	
   15	
   16	
   18	
   15	
   14	
  

Share	
  payouts	
  
(in	
  thousands)	
  

$7,774	
   $88,746	
   $27,137	
   $19,799	
   $195,325	
   $648,620	
   $713,112	
   $701,145	
   $586,852	
   $667,814	
  

Share	
  payouts	
  as	
  a	
  
percentage	
  of	
  total	
  
insured	
  shares	
  

0.002%	
   0.018%	
   0.005%	
   0.004%	
   0.035%	
   0.106%	
   0.098%	
   0.093%	
   0.074%	
   0.780%	
  

Shares	
  in	
  liquidated	
  
credit	
  unions	
  last	
  Call	
  
Report	
  (in	
  thousands)	
  

$31,421	
   $105,368	
   $32,513	
   $23,768	
   $578,880	
   $916,822	
   $990,931	
   $870,435	
   $459,403	
   $728,746	
  

1 2008 includes $106 million gain on sale of U.S. Treasury Securities.
2 Equity does not include unrealized gain (loss) from U.S. Treasury securities held as “Available for Sale Securities” beginning in 2008.
3 Amounts for 2006 and 2007 represent the carrying value of guarantees as determined under FIN 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and 
Disclosure Requirements.”
4 The NCUSIF adopted Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) accounting standards beginning in 2010. For the purpose 
of this table, total income includes both exchange and non-exchange revenue.
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Fiscal	
  Year	
   2003	
   2004	
   2005	
   2006	
   2007	
   2008	
  3	
   2009	
   2010	
   2011	
   2012	
  
MERGERS	
  

Assisted	
   5	
   7	
   5	
   4	
   5	
   3	
   12	
   10	
   1	
   8	
  
Unassisted	
   166	
   331	
   260	
   281	
   237	
   253	
   207	
   193	
   212	
   265	
  
SECTION	
  208	
  (FCU	
  ACT)	
  ASSISTANCE	
  TO	
  AVOID	
  LIQUIDATION	
  (IN	
  THOUSANDS)	
  
Capital	
  notes	
  and	
  
other	
  cash	
  advances	
  
outstanding	
  

$0	
   $0	
   $0	
   $15,000	
   $0	
   $0	
   $11,000,000	
   —	
   $80,000	
   $80,000	
  

Non-­‐cash	
  guaranty	
  
accounts	
  

$8,251	
   $70	
   $4,798	
   $679	
   $233,088	
   $126,340	
   $7,451	
   $108,046	
   $199,945	
   $32,132	
  

Number	
  of	
  active	
  
cases	
  

10	
   1	
   8	
   4	
   6	
   5	
   9	
   5	
   9	
   5	
  

NUMBER	
  OF	
  PROBLEM	
  CASE	
  INSURED	
  CREDIT	
  UNIONS	
  (CAMEL	
  CODE	
  4	
  &	
  5)	
  
Number	
   217	
   255	
   280	
   240	
   211	
   271	
   351	
   365	
   409	
   369	
  
Shares	
  (millions)	
   $3,568	
   $4,350	
   $5,771	
   $5,323	
   $5,300	
   $16,314	
   $41,587	
   $38,510	
   $26,285	
   $16,940	
  
Problem	
  case	
  shares	
  
as	
  a	
  percentage	
  of	
  
insured	
  shares	
  

0.74%	
   0.87%	
   1.12%	
   0.96%	
   0.94%	
   2.48%	
   5.74%	
   5.09%	
   3.31%	
   2.02%	
  

	
  
Fiscal	
  Year	
   	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  2003	
   2004	
   2005	
   2006	
   2007	
   2008	
   2009	
   2010	
   2011	
   2012	
  

TOTAL	
  INSURED	
  SHARES	
  IN	
  NATURAL	
  PERSON	
  CREDIT	
  UNIONS	
  (IN	
  MILLIONS)1	
  
Federal	
  credit	
  unions	
  

$262,419	
  	
   $276,392	
  	
   $285,713	
  	
   $296,466	
  	
   $308,917	
  	
   $361,264	
  	
   	
  $393,296	
  	
   $410,480	
  	
   $430,319	
  	
   $452,525	
  	
  
State	
  credit	
  unions	
  

$215,055	
  	
   $222,573	
  	
   $228,228	
  	
   $237,724	
  	
   $251,916	
  	
   $297,732	
  	
   	
  $331,501	
  	
   $345,471	
  	
   $363,253	
  	
   $385,366	
  	
  
Total	
  shares	
  

$477,474	
  	
   $498,965	
  	
   $513,941	
  	
   	
  $534,190	
  	
   	
  $560,832	
  	
   	
  $658,996	
  	
   	
  $724,797	
  	
   	
  $755,951	
  	
   	
  $793,572	
  	
   	
  $837,891	
  	
  
NUMBER	
  OF	
  MEMBER	
  ACCOUNTS	
  IN	
  INSURED	
  CREDIT	
  UNIONS	
  (IN	
  THOUSANDS)2	
  
Federal	
  credit	
  unions	
   	
  79,819	
  	
   	
  81,642	
  	
   	
  84,519	
  	
   	
  87,834	
  	
   	
  88,509	
  	
   	
  90,417	
  	
   	
  91,826	
  	
   	
  92,648	
  	
   	
  93,691	
  	
   	
  96,138	
  	
  
State	
  credit	
  unions	
   	
  62,489	
  	
   	
  63,575	
  	
   	
  64,620	
  	
   	
  67,422	
  	
   	
  69,501	
  	
   	
  72,351	
  	
   	
  74,310	
  	
   	
  75,661	
  	
   	
  76,627	
  	
   	
  79,230	
  	
  
Total	
   	
  142,308	
  	
   	
  145,217	
  	
   	
  149,139	
  	
   	
  155,256	
  	
   	
  158,010	
  	
   	
  162,768	
  	
   	
  166,136	
  	
   	
  168,309	
  	
   	
  170,318	
  	
   	
  175,368	
  	
  
NUMBER	
  OF	
  INSURED	
  CREDIT	
  UNIONS	
  	
  
Federal	
  credit	
  unions	
   	
  5,776	
  	
   	
  5,572	
  	
   	
  5,393	
  	
   	
  5,189	
  	
   	
  5,036	
  	
   	
  4,847	
  	
   	
  4,714	
  	
   	
  4,589	
  	
   	
  4,447	
  	
   	
  4,272	
  	
  
State	
  credit	
  unions	
   	
  3,593	
  	
   	
  3,442	
  	
   	
  3,302	
  	
   	
  3,173	
  	
   	
  3,065	
  	
   	
  2,959	
  	
   	
  2,840	
  	
   	
  2,750	
  	
   	
  2,647	
  	
   	
  2,547	
  	
  
Total	
   	
  9,369	
  	
   	
  9,014	
  	
   	
  8,695	
  	
   	
  8,362	
  	
   	
  8,101	
  	
   	
  7,806	
  	
   	
  7,554	
  	
   	
  7,339	
  	
   	
  7,094	
  	
   	
  6,819	
  	
  
Insured	
  shares	
  as	
  a	
  
percentage	
  of	
  all	
  
credit	
  union	
  shares	
  

90.4%	
   89.7%	
   89.0%	
   88.9%	
   88.7%	
   96.8%	
   96.3%	
   96.1%	
   95.9%	
   95.4%	
  

State	
  credit	
  union	
  
portion	
  of	
  insured	
  
shares	
  

45.0%	
   44.6%	
   44.4%	
   44.5%	
   44.9%	
   45.2%	
   45.7%	
   45.7%	
   45.8%	
   46.0%	
  
1 2008 includes $106 million gain on sale of U.S. Treasury Securities.
2 Equity does not include unrealized gain (loss) from U.S. Treasury securities held as “Available for Sale Securities” beginning in 2008.
3 Amounts for 2006 and 2007 represent the carrying value of guarantees as determined under FIN 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and 
Disclosure Requirements.”
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Federal Credit Union Ten-Year Summary Federally Insured, State-Chartered Credit Union Ten-Year Summary 

	
   2003	
   2004	
   2005	
   2006	
   2007	
   2008	
   2009	
   2010	
   2011	
   2012	
  
Number	
  of	
  credit	
  
unions	
  

	
  5,776	
  	
   	
  5,572	
  	
   	
  5,393	
  	
   	
  5,189	
  	
   	
  5,036	
  	
   	
  4,847	
  	
   	
  4,714	
  	
   	
  4,589	
  	
   	
  4,447	
  	
   	
  4,272	
  	
  

Number	
  of	
  
Members	
  

46,153,280	
  	
   46,857,837	
  	
   47,914,140	
  	
   48,254,353	
  	
   48,474,301	
  	
   49,130,191	
  	
   49,604,483	
  	
   50,081,400	
  	
   50,743,403	
  	
   51,796,869	
  	
  

Assets	
   	
  $336,585	
  	
   	
  $358,701	
  	
   	
  $377,827	
  	
   	
  $394,131	
  	
   $417,578	
  	
   	
  $447,124	
  	
   	
  $482,684	
  	
   	
  $500,075	
  	
   	
  $525,633	
  	
   	
  $557,119	
  	
  
Loans	
  
outstanding	
  

	
  $202,873	
  	
   	
  $223,875	
  	
   	
  $249,521	
  	
   	
  $270,418	
  	
   	
  $289,169	
  	
   	
  $309,277	
  	
   	
  $311,154	
  	
   	
  $306,276	
  	
   	
  $308,845	
  	
   	
  $322,675	
  	
  

Shares	
   	
  $291,485	
  	
   	
  $308,318	
  	
   	
  $321,831	
  	
   	
  $333,914	
  	
   	
  $349,101	
  	
   	
  $373,366	
  	
   	
  $408,832	
  	
   	
  $427,603	
  	
   	
  $449,316	
  	
   	
  $474,903	
  	
  
Reserves1	
   	
  $12,856	
  	
   	
  $13,576	
  	
   	
  $13,963	
  	
   	
  $14,487	
  	
   	
  $14,796	
  	
   	
  $14,879	
  	
   	
  $15,130	
  	
   	
  $15,875	
  	
   	
  $16,643	
  	
   	
  $17,596	
  	
  
Undivided	
  
earnings	
  

	
  $23,501	
  	
   	
  $26,051	
  	
   	
  $28,855	
  	
   	
  $31,581	
  	
   	
  $33,367	
  	
   	
  $33,177	
  	
   	
  $33,235	
  	
   	
  $34,615	
  	
   	
  $36,939	
  	
   	
  $40,280	
  	
  

Gross	
  income	
   	
  $19,765	
  	
   	
  $20,302	
  	
   	
  $22,796	
  	
   	
  $26,139	
  	
   	
  $29,227	
  	
   	
  $30,121	
  	
   	
  $29,469	
  	
   	
  $28,781	
  	
   	
  $27,728	
  	
   	
  $27,918	
  	
  
Operating	
  
expenses2	
  

	
  $11,242	
  	
   	
  $12,128	
  	
   	
  $13,308	
  	
   	
  $13,900	
  	
   	
  $15,225	
  	
   	
  $19,131	
  	
   	
  $19,766	
  	
   	
  $20,084	
  	
   	
  $19,259	
  	
   	
  $19,306	
  	
  

Dividends	
   	
  $5,197	
  	
   	
  $4,683	
  	
   	
  $5,930	
  	
   	
  $8,398	
  	
   	
  $10,588	
  	
   	
  $9,686	
  	
   	
  $7,421	
  	
   	
  $5,483	
  	
   	
  $4,373	
  	
   	
  $3,600	
  	
  
Net	
  income3	
   	
  $3,271	
  	
   	
  $3,351	
  	
   	
  $3,295	
  	
   	
  $3,420	
  	
   	
  $2,909	
  	
   	
  $284	
  	
   	
  $1,098	
  	
   	
  $2,468	
  	
   	
  $3,541	
  	
   	
  $4,650	
  	
  
PERCENT	
  CHANGE	
  
Total	
  assets	
   11.7%	
   6.6%	
   	
   5.3%	
   4.3%	
   5.9%	
   7.1%	
   8.0%	
   3.6%	
   5.1%	
   6.0%	
  
Loans	
  
outstanding	
  

11.6%	
   10.4%	
   11.5%	
   8.4%	
   6.9%	
   7.0%	
   0.6%	
   -­‐1.6%	
   0.8%	
   4.5%	
  

Shares	
   11.3%	
   5.8%	
   4.4%	
   3.8%	
   4.5%	
   7.0%	
   9.5%	
   4.6%	
   5.1%	
   5.7%	
  
Reserves1	
   8.9%	
   5.6%	
   2.8%	
   3.8%	
   2.1%	
   0.6%	
   1.7%	
   4.9%	
   4.8%	
   5.7%	
  
Undivided	
  
earnings	
  

12.7%	
   10.8%	
   10.8%	
   9.4%	
   5.7%	
   -­‐0.6%	
   0.2%	
   4.2%	
   6.7%	
   9.0%	
  

Gross	
  income	
   0.4%	
   2.7%	
   12.3%	
   14.7%	
   11.8%	
   3.1%	
   -­‐2.2%	
   -­‐2.3%	
   -­‐3.7%	
   0.7%	
  
Operating	
  
expenses2	
  

10.7%	
   7.9%	
   9.7%	
   4.4%	
   9.5%	
   25.7%	
   3.3%	
   1.6%	
   -­‐4.1%	
   0.2%	
  

Dividends	
   -­‐18.4%	
   -­‐9.9%	
   26.6%	
   41.6%	
   26.1%	
   -­‐8.5%	
   -­‐23.4%	
   -­‐26.1%	
   -­‐20.2%	
   -­‐17.7%	
  
Net	
  income3	
   6.2%	
   2.4%	
   -­‐1.7%	
   3.8%	
   -­‐14.9%	
   -­‐90.2%	
   286.6%	
   124.8%	
   43.5%	
   31.3%	
  

SIGNIFICANT	
  RATIOS	
  (IN	
  PERCENT)	
  
Reserves	
  to	
  
assets	
  

3.8%	
   3.8%	
   3.7%	
   3.7%	
   3.5%	
   3.3%	
   3.1%	
   3.2%	
   3.2%	
   3.2%	
  

Reserves	
  and	
  
undivided	
  
earnings	
  to	
  
assets1	
  

10.8%	
   11.0%	
   11.3%	
   11.7%	
   11.5%	
   10.7%	
   10.0%	
   10.1%	
   10.2%	
   10.4%	
  

Reserves	
  to	
  
loans1	
  

6.3%	
   6.1%	
   5.6%	
   5.4%	
   5.1%	
   4.8%	
   4.9%	
   5.2%	
   5.4%	
   5.5%	
  

Loans	
  to	
  shares	
   69.6%	
   72.6%	
   77.5%	
   81.0%	
   82.8%	
   82.8%	
   76.1%	
   71.6%	
   68.7%	
   67.9%	
  
Operating	
  
expenses	
  to	
  
gross	
  income2	
  

56.9%	
   59.7%	
   58.4%	
   53.2%	
   52.1%	
   63.5%	
   67.1%	
   69.8%	
   69.5%	
   69.2%	
  

Salaries	
  and	
  
benefits	
  to	
  gross	
  
income	
  

25.9%	
   27.1%	
   25.8%	
   24.2%	
   23.2%	
   23.9%	
   25.2%	
   26.4%	
   28.6%	
   30.2%	
  

Dividends	
  to	
  
gross	
  income	
  

26.3%	
   23.1%	
   26.0%	
   32.1%	
   36.2%	
   32.2%	
   25.2%	
   19.1%	
   15.8%	
   12.9%	
  

Yield	
  on	
  average	
  
assets	
  

6.2%	
   5.8%	
   6.2%	
   6.8%	
   7.2%	
   7.0%	
   6.3%	
   5.9%	
   5.4%	
   5.2%	
  

Cost	
  of	
  funds	
  to	
  
average	
  assets	
  

1.7%	
   1.4%	
   1.7%	
   2.3%	
   2.8%	
   2.4%	
   1.8%	
   1.2%	
   1.0%	
   0.8%	
  

Gross	
  spread	
   4.5%	
   4.4%	
   4.5%	
   4.5%	
   4.4%	
   4.5%	
   4.6%	
   4.6%	
   4.4%	
   4.4%	
  
Net	
  income	
  
divided	
  by	
  gross	
  
income3	
  

16.6%	
   16.5%	
   14.5%	
   13.1%	
   10.0%	
   0.9%	
   3.7%	
   8.6%	
   12.8%	
   16.7%	
  

Yield	
  on	
  average	
  
loans	
  

6.9%	
   6.3%	
   6.2%	
   6.5%	
   6.7%	
   6.6%	
   6.3%	
   6.2%	
   5.9%	
   5.5%	
  

Yield	
  on	
  average	
  
investments4	
  

2.7%	
   2.6%	
   3.2%	
   4.0%	
   4.7%	
   3.9%	
   2.7%	
   2.0%	
   1.7%	
   1.4%	
  

	
  

Federal credit unions December 31 (dollar amounts in millions)

1 Does not include the allowance for loan losses.
2 Includes the provision for loan losses.
3 Net income prior to reserve transfers.
4 Starting in 2000, investments includes cash on deposit and cash equivalents.
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Federally Insured, State-Chartered Credit Union Ten-Year Summary 
	
  
	
  
	
   2003	
   2004	
   2005	
   2006	
   2007	
   2008	
   2009	
   2010	
   2011	
   2012	
  

Number	
  of	
  credit	
  
unions	
  

	
  3,593	
  	
   	
  3,442	
  	
   	
  3,302	
  	
   	
  3,173	
  	
   	
  3,065	
  	
   	
  2,959	
  	
   	
  2,840	
  	
   	
  2,750	
  	
   	
  2,647	
  	
   	
  2,547	
  	
  

Number	
  of	
  
Members	
  

	
  36,287,049	
  	
   	
  36,710,302	
  	
   	
  36,896,076	
  	
   	
  37,499,194	
  	
   	
  38,363,147	
  	
   	
  39,452,881	
  	
   	
  40,332,998	
  	
   	
  40,447,236	
  	
   	
  41,092,953	
  	
   	
  42,042,565	
  	
  

Assets	
   	
  $273,572	
  	
   	
  $288,295	
  	
   	
  $300,868	
  	
   	
  $315,817	
  	
   	
  $335,885	
  	
   	
  $364,132	
  	
   	
  $402,069	
  	
   	
  $414,395	
  	
   	
  $436,121	
  	
   	
  $464,612	
  	
  
Loans	
  
outstanding	
  

	
  $173,241	
  	
   	
  $190,377	
  	
   $208,731	
  	
   	
  $223,917	
  	
   	
  $237,755	
  	
   	
  $256,720	
  	
   	
  $261,285	
  	
   	
  $258,555	
  	
   	
  $262,640	
  	
   $275,066	
  	
  

Shares	
   	
  $236,856	
  	
   	
  $247,804	
  	
   	
  $255,588	
  	
   	
  $267,274	
  	
   	
  $283,298	
  	
   	
  $307,762	
  	
   	
  $343,835	
  	
   	
  $358,877	
  	
   	
  $378,093	
  	
   	
  $402,948	
  	
  
Reserves1	
   	
  $10,790	
  	
   	
  $11,098	
  	
   	
  $11,479	
  	
   	
  $11,474	
  	
   	
  $11,854	
  	
   	
  $12,416	
  	
   	
  $12,650	
  	
   	
  $12,896	
  	
   	
  $13,090	
  	
   	
  $13,549	
  	
  
Undivided	
  
earnings	
  

	
  $18,232	
  	
   	
  $20,200	
  	
   	
  $21,943	
  	
   	
  $24,337	
  	
   	
  $26,121	
  	
   	
  $25,717	
  	
   	
  $26,434	
  	
   	
  $28,066	
  	
   	
  $30,566	
  	
   	
  $33,904	
  	
  

Gross	
  income	
   	
  $16,382	
  	
   	
  $16,538	
  	
   	
  $18,165	
  	
   	
  $20,936	
  	
   	
  $23,703	
  	
   	
  $24,358	
  	
   	
  $24,043	
  	
   	
  $23,262	
  	
   	
  $22,366	
  	
   	
  $22,543	
  	
  
Operating	
  
expenses2	
  

	
  $9,629	
  	
   	
  $10,252	
  	
   	
  $10,805	
  	
   	
  $11,348	
  	
   	
  $12,725	
  	
   	
  $15,967	
  	
   	
  $16,668	
  	
   	
  $16,512	
  	
   	
  $15,863	
  	
   	
  $15,773	
  	
  

Dividends	
   	
  $3,123	
  	
   	
  $2,800	
  	
   	
  $3,557	
  	
   	
  $5,084	
  	
   	
  $6,277	
  	
   	
  $5,695	
  	
   	
  $4,303	
  	
   	
  $3,126	
  	
   	
  $2,464	
  	
   	
  $2,045	
  	
  
Net	
  income3	
   	
  $2,508	
  	
   	
  $2,438	
  	
   	
  $2,364	
  	
   	
  $2,303	
  	
   	
  $1,828	
  	
   	
  $	
  (451)	
   	
  $575	
  	
   	
  $2,118	
  	
   	
  $2,868	
  	
   	
  $3,893	
  	
  
PERCENT	
  CHANGE	
  
Total	
  assets	
   6.9%	
   5.4%	
   4.4%	
   5.0%	
   6.4%	
   8.4%	
   10.4%	
   3.1%	
   5.2%	
   6.5%	
  
Loans	
  
outstanding	
  

7.7%	
   9.9%	
   9.6%	
   7.3%	
   6.2%	
   8.0%	
   1.8%	
   -­‐1.0%	
   1.6%	
   4.7%	
  

Shares	
   6.5%	
   4.6%	
   3.1%	
   4.6%	
   6.0%	
   8.6%	
   11.7%	
   4.4%	
   5.4%	
   6.6%	
  
Reserves1	
   0.8%	
   2.9%	
   3.4%	
   0.0%	
   3.3%	
   4.7%	
   1.9%	
   1.9%	
   1.5%	
   3.5%	
  
Undivided	
  
earnings	
  

11.8%	
   10.8%	
   8.6%	
   10.9%	
   7.3%	
   -­‐1.5%	
   2.8%	
   6.2%	
   8.9%	
   10.9%	
  

Gross	
  income	
   -­‐4.1%	
   1.0%	
   9.8%	
   15.3%	
   13.2%	
   2.8%	
   -­‐1.3%	
   -­‐3.3%	
   -­‐3.9%	
   0.8%	
  
Operating	
  
expenses2	
  

7.1%	
   6.5%	
   5.4%	
   5.0%	
   12.1%	
   25.5%	
   4.4%	
   -­‐0.9%	
   -­‐3.9%	
   -­‐0.6%	
  

Dividends	
   -­‐22.3%	
   -­‐10.3%	
   27.0%	
   42.9%	
   23.5%	
   -­‐9.3%	
   -­‐24.4%	
   -­‐27.3%	
   -­‐21.2%	
   -­‐17.0%	
  
Net	
  income3	
   -­‐2.9%	
   -­‐2.8%	
   -­‐3.0%	
   -­‐2.6%	
   -­‐20.6%	
   -­‐124.7%	
   -­‐227.5%	
   268.3%	
   35.4%	
   35.7%	
  
SIGNIFICANT	
  RATIOS	
  (IN	
  PERCENT)	
  
Reserves	
  to	
  
assets	
  

3.9%	
   3.8%	
   3.8%	
   3.6%	
   3.5%	
   3.4%	
   3.1%	
   3.1%	
   3.0%	
   2.9%	
  

Reserves	
  and	
  
undivided	
  
earnings	
  to	
  
assets1	
  

10.6%	
   10.9%	
   11.1%	
   11.3%	
   11.3%	
   10.5%	
   9.7%	
   9.9%	
   10.0%	
   10.2%	
  

Reserves	
  to	
  
loans1	
  

6.2%	
   5.8%	
   5.5%	
   5.1%	
   5.0%	
   4.8%	
   4.8%	
   5.0%	
   5.0%	
   4.9%	
  

Loans	
  to	
  shares	
   73.1%	
   76.8%	
   81.7%	
   83.8%	
   83.9%	
   83.4%	
   76.0%	
   72.0%	
   69.5%	
   68.3%	
  
Operating	
  
expenses	
  to	
  
gross	
  income2	
  

58.8%	
   62.0%	
   59.5%	
   54.2%	
   53.7%	
   65.6%	
   69.3%	
   71.0%	
   70.9%	
   70.0%	
  

Salaries	
  and	
  
benefits	
  to	
  	
  
gross	
  income	
  

26.2%	
   27.8%	
   26.7%	
   24.9%	
   23.9%	
   24.9%	
   25.9%	
   27.5%	
   29.3%	
   31.3%	
  

Dividends	
  to	
  	
  
gross	
  income	
  

19.1%	
   16.9%	
   19.6%	
   24.3%	
   26.5%	
   23.4%	
   17.9%	
   13.4%	
   11.0%	
   9.1%	
  

Yield	
  on	
  average	
  
assets	
  

6.2%	
   5.9%	
   6.2%	
   6.8%	
   7.3%	
   7.0%	
   6.3%	
   5.7%	
   5.3%	
   5.0%	
  

Cost	
  of	
  funds	
  to	
  
average	
  assets	
  

1.7%	
   1.4%	
   1.7%	
   2.4%	
   2.8%	
   2.4%	
   1.7%	
   1.2%	
   0.9%	
   0.7%	
  

Gross	
  spread	
   4.5%	
   4.5%	
   4.4%	
   4.4%	
   4.4%	
   4.5%	
   4.6%	
   4.5%	
   4.4%	
   4.3%	
  
Net	
  Income	
  
divided	
  by	
  gross	
  
income3	
  

15.3%	
   14.7%	
   13.0%	
   11.0%	
   7.7%	
   -­‐1.9%	
   2.4%	
   9.1%	
   12.8%	
   17.3%	
  

Yield	
  on	
  average	
  
loans	
  

6.6%	
   6.1%	
   6.0%	
   6.4%	
   6.7%	
   6.6%	
   6.2%	
   6.0%	
   5.6%	
   5.3%	
  

Yield	
  on	
  average	
  
investments4	
  

2.7%	
   2.6%	
   3.2%	
   4.0%	
   4.8%	
   3.9%	
   2.6%	
   1.9%	
   1.5%	
   1.2%	
  

	
  

Federally insured, state-chartered credit unions December 31 (dollar amounts in millions)

1 Does not include the allowance for loan losses.
2 Includes the provision for loan losses.
3 Net income prior to reserve transfers.
4 Starting in 2000, investments includes cash on deposit and cash equivalents.
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Federal Credit Union Historical Data

STATISTICAL DATA 
	
  

	
  
	
  

1935*	
  
	
  

828	
  
	
  

0	
  
	
  

134	
  
	
  

	
  772	
  
	
  

	
  	
  119,420	
  
	
  

$2,372	
  
	
  

	
  	
  	
  $2,228	
  
	
  

	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  $1,834	
  

1936*	
   956	
   4	
   107	
   1,751	
   309,700	
   $9,158	
   	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  $8,511	
   $7,344	
  

1937*	
   638	
   69	
   114	
   2,313	
   483,920	
   $19,265	
   $17,650	
   $15,695	
  

1938*	
   515	
   83	
   99	
   2,760	
   632,050	
   $29,629	
   $26,876	
   $23,830	
  

1939*	
   529	
   93	
   113	
   3,182	
   850,770	
   $47,811	
   $43,327	
   $37,673	
  

1940*	
   666	
   76	
   129	
   3,756	
   1,127,940	
   $72,530	
   $65,806	
   $55,818	
  

1941*	
   583	
   89	
   151	
   4,228	
   1,408,880	
   $106,052	
   $97,209	
   $69,485	
  

1942*	
   187	
   89	
   332	
   4,145	
   1,356,940	
   $119,591	
   $109,822	
   $43,053	
  

1943*	
   108	
   	
  321	
   326	
   3,938	
   1,311,620	
   $127,329	
   $117,339	
   $35,376	
  

1944*	
   69	
   	
  285	
   233	
   3,815	
   1,306,000	
   $144,365	
   $133,677	
   $34,438	
  

1945	
   96	
   	
  185	
   202	
   3,757	
   1,216,625	
   $153,103	
   $140,614	
   $35,155	
  

1946	
   157	
   151	
   204	
   3,761	
   1,302,132	
   $173,166	
   $159,718	
   $56,801	
  

1947	
   207	
   	
  159	
   168	
   3,845	
   1,445,915	
   $210,376	
   $192,410	
   $91,372	
  

1948	
   341	
   	
  130	
   166	
   4,058	
   1,628,339	
   $258,412	
   $235,008	
   $137,642	
  

1949	
   523	
   	
  101	
   151	
   4,495	
   1,819,606	
   $316,363	
   $285,001	
   $186,218	
  

1950	
   565	
   83	
   144	
   4,984	
   2,126,823	
   $405,835	
   $361,925	
   $263,736	
  

1951	
   533	
   75	
   188	
   5,398	
   2,463,898	
   $504,715	
   $457,402	
   $299,756	
  

1952	
   692	
   115	
   238	
   5,925	
   2,853,241	
   $662,409	
   $597,374	
   $415,062	
  

1953	
   825	
   132	
   278	
   6,578	
   3,255,422	
   $854,232	
   $767,571	
   $573,974	
  

1954	
   852	
   122	
   359	
   7,227	
   3,598,790	
   $1,033,179	
   $931,407	
   $681,970	
  

1955	
   777	
   188	
   369	
   7,806	
   4,032,220	
   $1,267,427	
   $1,135,165	
   $863,042	
  

1956	
   741	
   182	
   384	
   8,350	
   4,502,210	
   $1,529,202	
   $1,366,258	
   $1,049,189	
  

1957	
   662	
   194	
   467	
   8,735	
   4,897,689	
   $1,788,768	
   $1,589,191	
   $1,257,319	
  

1958	
   586	
   255	
   503	
   9,030	
   5,209,912	
   $2,034,866	
   $1,812,017	
   $1,379,724	
  

1959	
   700	
   270	
   516	
   9,447	
   5,643,248	
   $2,352,813	
   $2,075,055	
   $1,666,526	
  

1960	
   685	
   274	
   469	
   9,905	
   6,087,378	
   $2,669,734	
   $2,344,337	
   $2,021,463	
  

1961	
   671	
   265	
   509	
   10,271	
   6,542,603	
   $3,028,294	
   $2,673,488	
   $2,245,223	
  

1962	
   601	
   284	
   465	
   10,632	
   7,007,630	
   $3,429,805	
   $3,020,274	
   $2,560,722	
  

1963	
   622	
   312	
   452	
   10,955	
   7,499,747	
   $3,916,541	
   $3,452,615	
   $2,911,159	
  

1964	
   580	
   323	
   386	
   11,278	
   8,092,030	
   $4,559,438	
   $4,017,393	
   $3,349,068	
  

1965	
   584	
   270	
   435	
   11,543	
   8,640,560	
   $5,165,807	
   $4,538,461	
   $3,864,809	
  

1966	
   701	
   318	
   420	
   11,941	
   9,271,967	
   $5,668,941	
   $4,944,033	
   $4,323,943	
  

1967	
   636	
   292	
   495	
   12,210	
   9,873,777	
   $6,208,158	
   $5,420,633	
   $4,677,480	
  

1968	
   662	
   345	
   438	
   12,584	
   10,508,504	
   $6,902,175	
   $5,986,181	
   $5,398,052	
  

1969	
   705	
   323	
   483	
   12,921	
   11,301,805	
   $7,793,573	
   $6,713,385	
   $6,328,720	
  

1970	
   563	
   412	
   578	
   12,977	
   11,966,181	
   $8,860,612	
   $7,628,805	
   $6,969,006	
  

1971	
   400	
   461	
   777	
   12,717	
   12,702,135	
   $10,533,740	
   $9,191,182	
   $8,071,201	
  
1972	
   311	
   672	
   425	
   12,708	
   13,572,312	
   $12,513,621	
   $10,956,007	
   $9,424,180	
  

1973	
   364	
   523	
   286	
   12,688	
   14,665,890	
   $14,568,736	
   $12,597,607	
   $11,109,015	
  

Year Members Assets Shares Loans
outstanding

Charters 
issued

Charters
cancelled

 

Inactive
credit 
unions 

Active 
credit 
unions 

(Amounts in thousands of dollars)
Historical data for federal credit unions December 31, 1935 to 1973

*Data for 1935-44 are partly estimated.
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Year Members Assets Shares Loans
outstanding

Charters 
issued

Charters
cancelled

 

Inactive
credit 
unions 

Active 
credit 
unions 

(Amounts in thousands of dollars)
Historical data for federal credit unions December 31, 1974 to 2012

NCUA 2011 ANNUAL  

	
  

	
  

	
  

	
  
	
  
	
  

	
  
	
  

1974	
  
	
  

	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  367	
  
	
  

369	
  
	
  

224	
  
	
  

12,748	
  
	
  

	
  	
  15,870,434	
  
	
  

	
  $16,714,673	
  
	
  

	
  $14,370,744	
  
	
  

	
  	
  $12,729,653	
  
1975	
   373	
   334	
   274	
   12,737	
   17,066,428	
   $20,208,536	
   $17,529,823	
   $14,868,840	
  

1976	
   354	
   387	
   221	
   12,757	
   18,623,862	
   $24,395,896	
   $21,130,293	
   $18,311,204	
  

1977	
   337	
   315	
   250	
   12,750	
   20,426,661	
   $29,563,681	
   $25,576,017	
   $22,633,860	
  

1978	
   348	
   298	
   291	
   12,759	
   23,259,284	
   $34,760,098	
   $29,802,504	
   $27,686,584	
  

1979	
   286	
   336	
   262	
   12,738	
   24,789,647	
   $36,467,850	
   $31,831,400	
   $28,547,097	
  

1980	
   170	
   368	
   362	
   12,440	
   24,519,087	
   $40,091,855	
   $36,263,343	
   $26,350,277	
  

1981	
   119	
   554	
   398	
   11,969	
   25,459,059	
   $41,905,413	
   $37,788,699	
   $27,203,672	
  

1982	
   114	
   556	
   294	
   11,631	
   26,114,649	
   $45,482,943	
   $41,340,911	
   $28,184,280	
  

1983	
   107	
   736	
   320	
   10,976	
   26,798,799	
   $54,481,827	
   $49,889,313	
   $33,200,715	
  

1984	
   135	
   664	
   219	
   10,548	
   28,191,922	
   $63,656,321	
   $57,929,124	
   $42,133,018	
  

1985	
   55	
   575	
   122	
   10,125	
   29,578,808	
   $78,187,651	
   $71,616,202	
   $48,240,770	
  

1986	
   59	
   441	
   107	
   9,758	
   31,041,142	
   $95,483,828	
   $87,953,642	
   $55,304,682	
  

1987	
   41	
   460	
   45	
   9,401	
   32,066,542	
   $105,189,725	
   $96,346,488	
   $64,104,411	
  

1988	
   45	
   201	
   172	
   9,118	
   34,438,304	
   $114,564,579	
   $104,431,487	
   $73,766,200	
  

1989	
   23	
   307	
   185	
   8,821	
   35,612,317	
   $120,666,414	
   $109,652,600	
   $80,272,306	
  

1990	
   33	
   410	
   118	
   8,511	
   36,241,607	
   $130,072,955	
   $117,891,940	
   $83,029,348	
  

1991	
   14	
   291	
   123	
   8,229	
   37,080,854	
   $143,939,504	
   $130,163,749	
   $84,150,334	
  

1992	
   33	
   341	
   128	
   7,916	
   38,205,128	
   $162,543,659	
   $146,078,403	
   $87,632,808	
  

1993	
   42	
   258	
   132	
   7,696	
   39,755,596	
   $172,854,187	
   $153,505,799	
   $94,640,348	
  

1994	
   39	
   224	
   145	
   7,498	
   40,837,392	
   $182,528,895	
   $160,225,678	
   $110,089,530	
  

1995	
   28	
   194	
   148	
   7,329	
   42,162,627	
   $193,781,391	
   $170,300,445	
   $120,514,044	
  

1996	
   14	
   189	
   150	
   7,152	
   43,545,541	
   $206,692,540	
   $180,964,338	
   $134,120,610	
  

1997	
   17	
   179	
   13	
   6,981	
   43,500,553	
   $215,097,395	
   $187,816,918	
   $140,099,926	
  

1998	
   8	
   174	
   1	
   6,815	
   43,864,851	
   $231,904,308	
   $202,650,793	
   $144,849,109	
  

1999	
   17	
   265	
   0	
   6,566	
   44,076,428	
   $239,315,693	
   $207,613,549	
   $155,171,735	
  

2000	
   12	
   235	
   7	
   6,336	
   43,883,106	
   $242,881,164	
   $210,187,670	
   $163,850,918	
  

2001	
   14	
   228	
   11	
   6,118	
   43,817,186	
   $270,122,649	
   $235,201,372	
   $170,326,327	
  

2002	
   21	
   180	
   6	
   5,953	
   44,594,763	
   $301,237,877	
   $261,818,983	
   $181,767,853	
  

2003	
   28	
   193	
   12	
   5,776	
   46,153,280	
   $336,584,591	
   $291,484,757	
   $202,873,141	
  

2004	
   22	
   172	
   54	
   5,572	
   46,857,837	
   $358,700,825	
   $308,317,947	
   $223,874,845	
  

2005	
   19	
   177	
   21	
   5,393	
   47,914,140	
   $377,827,227	
   $321,831,310	
   $249,520,525	
  

2006	
   17	
   201	
   20	
   5,189	
   48,254,353	
   $394,130,995	
   $333,914,269	
   $270,418,384	
  

2007	
   14	
   165	
   2	
   5,036	
   48,474,301	
   $417,578,324	
   $349,100,928	
   $289,169,391	
  

2008	
   8	
   177	
   20	
   4,847	
   49,130,191	
   $447,124,352	
   $373,365,677	
   $309,277,352	
  

2009	
   13	
   136	
   10	
   4,714	
   49,604,483	
   $482,684,405	
   $408,831,654	
   $311,153,591	
  

2010	
   12	
   121	
   16	
   4,589	
   50,081,400	
   $500,075,341	
   $427,602,919	
   $306,276,074	
  

2011	
   5	
   139	
   8	
   4,447	
   50,743,403	
   $525,633,071	
   $449,315,853	
   $308,844,729	
  

2012	
   4	
   175	
   4	
   4,272	
   	
  	
  	
  	
  51,796,869	
   $557,118,658	
   $474,902,752	
   $322,674,539	
  

	
  





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contact Information 
 
Public Information:   (703) 518-6330  pacamail@ncua.gov 
Office of the Board:   (703) 518-6300 
General Counsel Fraud Hotline:  (800) 827-9650  ogcmail@ncua.gov 
Credit Union Investments:  (800) 755-5999  ocmpmail@ncua.gov 
NCUA Consumer Assistance Center: (800) 755-1030  consumerassistance@ncua.gov 
Report Improper or Illegal Activities: (800) 778-4806  oigmail@ncua.gov 
Share Insurance Hotline:  (877) 452-1463 
Technical Support:    (800) 827-3255   csdesk@ncua.gov 
 
Thank you for your interest in the NCUA 2012 Annual Report. Credit unions can secure electronic 
copies of the NCUA 2012 Annual Report at www.ncua.gov in the tab on Regulations, 
Publications, and Reports. Please send any comments or suggestions about this report to 
pacamail@ncua.gov. 
 
National Credit Union Administration 
1775 Duke Street 
Alexandria, VA 22314-3428 
www.ncua.gov 
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